University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

2023

Dynamic Distributed Energy Resources for Expansion of Ontario's Greenhouse Sector

Lysandra Naom University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

🗘 Part of the Agriculture Commons, Other Engineering Commons, and the Sustainability Commons

Recommended Citation

Naom, Lysandra, "Dynamic Distributed Energy Resources for Expansion of Ontario's Greenhouse Sector" (2023). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 8953. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/8953

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

Dynamic Distributed Energy Resources for Expansion of Ontario's Greenhouse Sector

By

Lysandra Naom

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies through the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Applied Science at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

2023

© 2023 Lysandra Naom

Dynamic Distributed Energy Resources for Expansion of Ontario's Greenhouse Sector

by

Lysandra Naom

APPROVED BY:

D. Ting Department of Mechanical, Automotive & Materials Engineering

R. Seth Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering

R. Carriveau, Co-Advisor Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering

L. Miller, Co-Advisor Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering

January 6, 2023

DECLARATION OF CO-AUTHORSHIP/PREVIOUS PUBLICATION

I. Co-Authorship

I hereby declare that this thesis incorporates material that is result of joint research, as follows:

Chapter (II) of the thesis was co-authored with Gene Ingratta, Shalin Khosla, Xiuming Hao, under the supervision of professors Rupp Carriveau and Lindsay Miller. In all cases, the key ideas, primary contributions, experimental designs, data analysis, interpretation, and writing were performed by the author, and the contribution of co-authors was primarily through: Gene Ingratta contributed to the data analysis of the lit peppers; Shalin Khosla and Xiuming Hao contributed to the experimental design by providing design parameters used for the lighting recipes; Rupp Carriveau and Lindsay Miller provided feedback on refinement of ideas and editing of the manuscript and experimental design.

Chapters (III) and (IV) of the thesis were written under the supervision of Dr. Lindsay Miller and Dr. Rupp Carriveau. In all cases, the key ideas, primary contributions, experimental designs, data analysis, interpretation, and writing were performed by the author.

I am aware of the University of Windsor Senate Policy on Authorship and I certify that I have properly acknowledged the contribution of other researchers to my thesis, and have obtained written permission from each of the co-author(s) to include the above material(s) in my thesis.

I certify that, with the above qualification, this thesis, and the research to which it refers, is the product of my own work.

II. Previous Publication

This thesis includes [3] original papers that have been previously published/submitted to journals for publication, as follows:

Thesis Chapter	Publication title/full citation	Publication status*
Chapter [11]	L. Naom, R. Carriveau, L. Miller, X. Hao, S. Khosla, and G. Ingratta, "Planning For the Massive Energy Impact Of Greenhouse Lighting in Ontario"	Submitted to Energy Nexus journal.
Chapter [III]	L. Naom, R. Carriveau, and L. Miller, "The Substantial Impact of the Greenhouse Sector on the Ontario Electricity Grid"	Prepared for submission in January 2023.
Chapter [IV]	L. Naom, R. Carriveau, and L. Miller, "Modelling A Five Greenhouse Network in Ontario With Distributed Energy Resource Designs"	Prepared for submission in January 2023.

I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include the above published material(s) in my thesis. I certify that the above material describes work completed during my registration as a graduate student at the University of Windsor.

III. General

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge, my thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, quotations, or any other material from the work of other people included in my thesis, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices. Furthermore, to the extent that I have included copyrighted material that surpasses the bounds of fair dealing within the meaning of the Canada Copyright Act, I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include such material(s) in my thesis.

I declare that this is a true copy of my thesis, including any final revisions, as approved by my thesis committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this thesis has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

ABSTRACT

The vegetable greenhouse sector is rapidly growing and adopting technology advances like supplemental lighting. Supplemental lighting has a dynamic impact on the demand and consumption of a greenhouse's electricity load. There is uncertainty on the rate of adaptation of technologies and the impact this could have on the power consumption of the sector. Without electricity availability, the sectors innovation and expansion can come to a halt. This research focused on investigating greenhouse electrical load models and lighting trends to forecast demand on electricity grids and discover potential for Distributed Energy Resource (DER) applications.

This thesis presents a series of studies developed and implemented with commercial greenhouse data and industry standards in Ontario. First, an electrical load model was developed using commercial greenhouse data to differentiate between unlit and lit greenhouse consumption. The use of ten commercial and literature-based combinations of lighting and fixtures resulted in certain combinations and fixtures providing significant electricity consumption savings but displayed a greater capital cost. This model also demonstrated a significant increase in electricity demand and consumption when applying lighting to an unlit pepper vegetable sector. An analysis was then conducted by forecasting the implications of 75% of the Ontario vegetable greenhouse sector adopting lighting. This model normalized the current sectors electrical grid and produced a grid multiplier for lighting scenarios varying in intensity, type, and harvesting area. The findings demonstrated that with careful lighting selection and limitations of lighting intensity, the electrical grid can implement guidelines to regulate and prevent extreme loads from the greenhouse sector. Lastly, an analysis was preformed to illustrate the demand and electrical consumption of five vegetable greenhouses, individually and as a five-grower network. DER designs including cogeneration and battery were developed for the greenhouses and fivegrower network. The results show that by creating a network, there can be significant reduction in DER capacity and subsequently financial cost. Outcomes from this study confirm that creating greenhouse networks can allow for greenhouses to self-generate at a reasonable cost using DERs. Together these works combine to form a valuable analysis tool on the greenhouse sectors electrical load and provides potential solutions to moderate the power growth of the sector.

DEDICATION

In dedication to my loved ones for their continued support and understanding of the excuse "Sorry, I am working on my thesis".

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisors Dr. Lindsay Miller and Dr. Rupp Carriveau for providing me the opportunity to work on this project. I appreciate your continued words of encouragement, support, and guidance throughout these last two years.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my committee. Thank you Dr. David Ting and Dr. Rajesh Seth for your helpful feedback and support. A huge thank you to the external reader of this thesis, Lucas Semple, for providing continued support and industry knowledge whenever needed.

Another thank you goes to my lab mates Agatha Garces and Sarah Nichol. Thank you for always having open ears and providing pep talks when needed, I appreciate you both!

Thank you to David Arkell and the team at 360 Energy. Without your innovative headset, expertise on the energy industry, and willingness to share, I would not have the knowledge I do today.

Additionally, I would like to thank the Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO), Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers (OGVG), Under Sun Acres, Rising Sun Acres, 360 Energy, Hydro One, the Environmental Energy Institute (EEI), and all greenhouses and organizations that helped make this research possible. Another thanks goes to the industry team: Agatha Garces, David Arkell, Gordon Hartley, Lindsay Miller, Lucas Semple, Niki Bennett, Rupp Carriveau, and Tom Brown for spending part of your Fridays reviewing this information with me.

Thank you to Shalin Khosla and Dr. Xiuming Hao for sharing their extensive greenhouse growing knowledge with me. To Gene Ingratta and the team at Allegro Acres, thanks for being an industry trailblazer and letting me be a witness to it.

Last, but certainly not least, I'd like to thank all the local coffee shops across Windsor-Essex for fueling my work sessions. This thesis would not be possible without it!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION OF CO-AUTHORSHIP/PREVIOUS PUBLICATIONii
ABSTRACT
DEDICATIONvi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvii
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/SYMBOLSxiv
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION 1
1. BACKGROUND
2. OBJECTIVES
3. THESIS ORGANIZATION
REFERENCES
CHAPTER II PLANNING FOR THE MASSIVE ENERGY IMPACT OF
GREENHOUSE LIGHTING IN ONTARIO9
1. INTRODUCTION
2. METHOD
2.1. UNLIT SWEET PEPPER GREENHOUSE ELECTRICAL LOAD
2.2. CROP CYCLE
2.3. GREENHOUSE MATERIAL13
2.4. LIT SWEET PEPPER GREENHOUSE ELECTRICAL LOAD
2.5. SUPPLEMENTAL LIGHTING
2.6. LIGHTING CYCLES
2.7. LIGHTING FIXTURES
2.8. LIGHTING COMBINATIONS
2.9. UNLIT AND LIT CROP ELECTRICAL LOAD MODELLING
2.10. COST ANALYSIS
2.11. YIELD ANALYSIS AND SIMPLE PAYBACK PERIOD

	2.12. ONTARIO PEPPER INDUSTRY GRID PROJECTION	18
3	. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	19
	3.1. UNLIT SWEET PEPPER ELECTRICITY LOAD	19
	3.2. LIT SWEET PEPPER ELECTRICITY LOAD	21
	3.3. UNLIT, HPS LIT, AND LED LIT SWEET PEPPER ELECTRICITY LOAD	22
	3.4. COST ANALYSIS	23
	3.5. YIELD ANALYSIS AND SIMPLE PAYBACK PERIOD	24
	3.6. ONTARIO PEPPER INDUSTRY GRID PROJECTION	24
4	CONCLUSIONS	25
R	EFERENCES	27
СН	APTER III THE SUBSTANTIAL IMPACT OF THE GREENHOUSE SECTOR (N
TH	E ONTARIO ELECTRICITY GRID	32
1	. INTRODUCTION	32
2	. METHOD	34
	2.1. ONTARIO GREENHOUSE VEGETABLE SECTOR OVERVIEW	34
	2.2. LIGHTING STRATEGIES	36
	2.3. DAILY LIGHT INTEGRAL	36
	2.4. NUMBER OF FIXTURES	37
	2.5. LIGHTING HOURS	37
	2.6. LIGHTING ELECTRICAL CONSUMPTION	38
	2.7. ELECTRICAL GRID MODELLING	39
	2.8. ELECTRICAL GRID PROJECTIONS	41
3	. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	42
	3.1. LIGHTING INTENSITY RESULTS	42
	3.2. LIGHTING COMBINATIONS – CURRENT SECTOR	45
	3.3. LIGHTING SPLITS – PROJECTED SECTOR	46
4	CONCLUSION	47
R	EFERENCES	49
CH	APTER IV MODELLING A FIVE GREENHOUSE NETWORK IN ONTARIO	
WI	TH DISTRIBUTED ENERGY RESOURCE DESIGNS	53
1	. INTRODUCTION	53
2	. METHOD	54

	2.1.	GREENHOUSE DETAILS	. 55
	2.2.	GREENHOUSE ELECTRICAL ANALYSIS	. 55
	2.3.	FIVE-GROWER NETWORK ELECTRICAL ANALYSIS	. 58
	2.4.	COGENERATION AND BATTERY SPECIFICATIONS	. 61
	2.5.	HOMER PRO SOFTWARE	. 62
	2.6.	CAPEX and OPEX Analysis	. 63
3	. RES	ULTS AND DISCUSSION	. 64
	3.1.	DESIGN RESULTS	. 64
	3.2.	CAPEX AND OPEX RESULTS	. 67
4	. CON	ICLUSION	. 70
R	EFEREN	CES	. 72
СН	APTEF	R V CONCLUSION	.75
VIT	TA AU	CTORIS	.79

LIST OF TABLES

Table II-1: Greenhouse Crop Cycle	13
Table II-2: Lighting Methodology	15
Table II-3: Lighting Fixture Details	15
Table II-4: Summary of Lighting Combination Results	17
Table II-5: CAPEX and Operational Costs	24
Table II-6: Projections for the Ontario Pepper Industry	25
Table III-1: Ontario Greenhouse Breakdown	34
Table III-2: Fixture Specifications	
Table III-3: Summary of Scenarios	42
Table III-4: Lighting Intensity Results	42
Table III-5: Current Sector Lighting Split Results	45
Table III-6: Projected Sector Lighting Split Results	46
Table IV-1: Five Grower Network	55
Table IV-2: Electrical Summary Figures	58
Table IV-3: Cogenerator Specifications	61
Table IV-4: 1 MW Cogeneration Operation Details	61
Table IV-5: 4 MW Cogeneration Operation Details	62
Table IV-6: Cost Analysis Parameters	63
Table IV-7: Cogeneration Design Results	64
Table IV-8: Cost of Electricity (Total Generated Electricity)	70
Table IV-9: Cost of Electricity (Total Electrical Load Served)	70

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I-1: Allegro Acres, Kingsville, ON	2
Figure II-1: 20 Year Daily Light Integral Natural Sunlight Transmission in Harrow, ON	14
Figure II-2: Supplemental DLI in Harrow, ON	14
Figure II-3: Lighting Method Results Hours ON per Week	16
Figure II-4: Monthly Electricity Demand per Acre of an Unlit Pepper Greenhouse	19
Figure II-5: Monthly Electricity Consumption per Acre of an Unlit Pepper Greenhouse	20
Figure II-6: Unlit Sweet Pepper Greenhouse Crop Monthly Electricity Demand (kW/Acro	e) 20
Figure II-7: Unlit Sweet Pepper Greenhouse Crop Monthly Electricity Consumption	
(MWh/Acre)	21
Figure II-8: Lighting Methods Electrical Demand (kW)	21
Figure II-9: Lighting Methods Total Electrical Consumption (MWh)	22
Figure II-10: Sweet Pepper Greenhouse Monthly Demand (kW/Acre)	22
Figure II-11: Sweet Pepper Greenhouse Monthly Electricity Consumption (MWh/Acre)	23
Figure III-1: 2021 Ontario Vegetable Greenhouses Unlit and Lit Acres	35
Figure III-2: 2021 Ontario Vegetable Greenhouse Lighting Status by Crop Type	35
Figure III-3: Natural DLI in Ontario	36
Figure III-4: Average Lighting Hours per Day	37
Figure III-5: Total Lit Hours per Month	38
Figure III-6: Electrical Demand by Type (kW/Acre)	39
Figure III-7: 2021 Greenhouse Vegetable Electrical Demand (MW)	40
Figure III-8: 2021 Greenhouse Vegetable Electrical Consumption (TWh)	40
Figure III-9: Lighting Status Projections	41
Figure III-10: Demand by Type	43
Figure III-11: Consumption by Type	43
Figure III-12: Electricity Demand and Consumption Lighting Intensity Projections	44
Figure III-13: Current Sector Electricity Demand and Consumption Multiplier	45
Figure III-14: Projected Sector Electricity Demand and Consumption Multiplier	47
Figure IV-1: Greenhouse Maximum Demand per Acre	56
Figure IV-2: Greenhouse Average Hourly Electrical Consumption per Acre	57
Figure IV-3: Greenhouse Monthly Total Electrical Consumption per Acre	57
Figure IV-4: Five-Grower Network Monthly Demand (MW)	58
Figure IV-5: Five-Grower Network Average Hourly Usage (MW)	59
Figure IV-6: Five-Grower Network Monthly Average Hourly Usage Profile (MW)	60
Figure IV-7: Five-Grower Network Total Monthly Consumption (MWh)	60
Figure IV-8: Summary of Cogeneration Design Results	65
Figure IV-9: Battery Design Results	65
Figure IV-10: Cogeneration Operation Results	66
Figure IV-11: Electricity Operation Results	67
Figure IV-12: Total Project Costs	68
Figure IV-13: Total vs. Five Grower Network	69

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/SYMBOLS

- **DER** Distributed Energy Resource
- **DLI** Daily Light Integral
- **HPS** High Pressure Sodium
- IESO Independent Electricity Sector Operator
- **LED** Light Emitting Diode
- NG Natural Gas
- **OGVG** Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers
- PAR Photosynthetically Active Radiation
- **PPFD** Photosynthetic Photon Flux Density
- **SL** Supplemental Lighting
- W Wattage

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

1. BACKGROUND

Highlighted by the COVID-19 pandemic, food security and the need for self-sustaining communities is more apparent than ever [1]. By 2050, food demand is expected to grow by 56% [2]. To meet this demand, year-round growing seasons and technologies that promote increased yield are key. Due to this need, greenhouses have become a popular choice for growing produce as it allows for a controlled environment that protects the crop from external influences [3]. Recent innovations and advances have led to the Canadian greenhouse industry becoming successful in the global market and vital to the Canadian economy [4].

Canada is home to 837 commercial greenhouse operations with 71% of the total vegetable production occurring in Ontario [4]. The vegetable production is primarily cucumbers, peppers, and tomatoes. Although the industry has remained successful over the years, Ontario experiences seasonal changes resulting in shorter sunlight periods during the winter months. In greenhouse concentrated regions, the frost-free growing period is about half of the year [5]. This prevents high yields of produce occurring year-round. To allow for a high producing continuous growing season, innovative technologies are essential.

In seasonal locations, supplemental lighting allows greenhouses to provide their crop with light throughout the year [6]. Generally, it is stated that a 1% increase in lighting results in a 1%, yield increase [7]. The common types of greenhouse lighting include High Pressure Sodium (HPS) and Light Emitting Diode (LED). With supplemental lighting comes various fixtures and lighting recipes dependent on crop, greenhouse structure, and location [8–10]. In Figure I-1, the first Canadian lit pepper greenhouse, Allegro Acres, is pictured with LED lighting. Many studies highlight that both lighting options result in an increased product yield for cucumbers, tomatoes, and peppers when compared to a greenhouse without lighting [6,11–18]. However, with the addition of supplemental lighting comes the increase in power consumption and energy costs. Although HPS was traditionally the go to for greenhouses, these fixtures require a high electricity demand and are ultimately more expensive to operate. Electricity operators currently assume a 35-55% energy savings from LEDs [19]. Yet, LEDs are often shown at a different lighting operation level than HPS, creating a challenge for transparent electricity comparisons. Currently, there is a lack of genuine comparison of the lighting types considering utility electricity costs, various growing methodologies, and industry level lighting habits.



Figure I-1: Allegro Acres, Kingsville, ON

For this sector to innovate, there must be available and cost-effective electricity to implement these lighting structures. A significant challenge is the unknown installation rate and power requirements of supplemental lighting. The Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO) of Ontario reported in 2018 that only 4% of vegetable greenhouse area had lighting [20]. Based on a 2021 Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Grower (OGVG) statistics this has grown an additional 15%, making up 19% of the greenhouse area. This emphasizes the rapid growth, showcasing an almost 5x increase in lighting technological adaptation in three years. To meet this exponential technology growth, reliable power supply must be available.

Although the Ontario electricity grid seems to have enough supply for the current demand, shortages are expected to occur starting in 2026 [21]. However, in the Ontario greenhouse hub cities Kingsville and Leamington, grid shortages are already an issue [22]. Currently, there are greenhouse customers unable to connect due to the shortage [22]. To mitigate this, there are projects to install over 1300 MW of transmission infrastructure to meet these growing demands [23]. Besides grid infrastructure upgrades which take years, electricity operators push for greenhouses to make energy efficient choices, such as switching from HPS to LEDs [19]. The lack of options at present creates implementation barriers when the greenhouse industry is looking to innovate and the electricity sector lacks the availability to implement the technology. For some greenhouses, turning to external resources has been a solution to avoid these issues with grid connection wait times and availability.

Since growers are focused on their crop, energy consumption has historically been overlooked and assumed to be available. With availability concerns emerging, distributed energy resources (DERs) are being proposed as a potential solution to grid supply shortages and growing electricity costs. DERs include a variety of technologies: solar, wind, cogeneration, batteries, and others [24]. Due to the nature of greenhouse operation, the DER choice is not always simple. However, the Netherlands has proven cogeneration DERs to be an economical solution and widely adopted in this infamous greenhouse industry [25]. Cogeneration supplies a greenhouse with heat, electricity, and CO₂, all used to support crop growth [26]. Because of power supply shortages, cogeneration may be solution greenhouses look to implement in Ontario.

DERs can be off-grid solutions supplying a specific greenhouse location or a grid-connected solution allowing excess electricity generation to supply utility connected facilities. One of the main benefits of installing DERs off grid is that they allow greenhouses to innovate without the long term waits of utility approvals and installations [27]. For example, DT Enterprise Farms installed 2 MW of off grid cogeneration rather than wait for utility power supply and grid connection [28]. However, off grid solutions create a restriction in usability of installed assets as the energy can only be used within the greenhouse. This is especially important as a lit greenhouses load fluctuates dramatically. In the months with an abundance of sunlight, lighting is no longer needed. With the vast load difference between lighting months and non-lighting months, these assets can range from undersized to extremely oversized and may sit unused for months. Grid connected DERs have potential for use of this excess generation if electricity operators allow it. In Dutch greenhouses, the excess electricity is sold back to their utility as another income revenue [25]. However, in Ontario, currently there is a lack of understanding and modelling on the difference in electrical load between unlit and lit commercial greenhouses for this to be strategically used as well as limited grid connection availability.

Due to the limited access of industry data, few studies have been able to analyze and utilize electrical load data in commercial greenhouses. Currently, there is a knowledge gap on electricity operation trends between the greenhouse sector and the electricity industry. To date, no studies exist that look at greenhouses operating as a network for DER implementation. If this is leveraged, in greenhouse concentrated areas like Kingsville and Leamington, ON, DERs can enable innovation and provide the potential for businesses to collaborate. For the industries to work together to overcome future challenges, comprehensive research and understanding reflecting both perspective on the implementation of supplemental lighting and DER systems are necessary.

While some electricity operators believe switching to more efficient technologies like LEDs will address power shortages, the issue is much larger than anticipated. Both the electricity and greenhouse sector need to analyze usage and consider commodifying DERs as without this, the greenhouse industry will not be able to support global food demand. Since the greenhouse industry is vital to both global produce markets and the Canadian economy, the sectors growth and production should be supported.

2. OBJECTIVES

The objective of this thesis is to identify, quantify, and propose solutions to some of the challenges the Ontario greenhouse industry and electricity operator will have to face. This objective will be met through the following deliverables:

- Model Ontario based greenhouse electricity consumption for both unlit and lit greenhouses with a focus on load distribution, lighting types, and methodology impacts.
- Develop a detailed comparative analysis between an unlit and lit pepper greenhouse including lighting trends, electricity differences, and cost impacts with both a grower and electricity operator headset.
- Forecast the electricity consumption and demand impact of the entire Ontario greenhouse vegetable industry making a shift to supplemental lighting, crucial to grid planning.
- Model DER cogeneration systems for greenhouses; for both individual and networked operations, as an off-grid generation solution.

3. THESIS ORGANIZATION

Chapter II focuses on conducting an analysis of the supplemental lighting technologies and methodologies, with a focus on their impact to the pepper vegetable crop in Ontario. Currently, peppers occupy the largest greenhouse land space in Ontario but only one greenhouse operation uses supplemental lights. This study evaluates the difference between an unlit and lit pepper crop in Ontario and the influential electrical impact this decision could have. The study shows the electrical impact through a grower's lens, prioritizing fixtures, methodologies, and lighting targets based on ideal crop requirements. This lays the groundwork of the thesis by detailing the electrical load through the diverse methodologies of a grower and by projecting the potential load this sector can have. Further, this chapter highlights electricity usage for optimal crop health and yield, which is precedent to growers. This emphasizes the that reducing electricity is not the primary importance in the energy and agriculture nexus, the crop is.

The agriculture sector is a powerful and dynamic sector, however, the sector cannot operate a technology advanced front without a joint coordination with the electrical sector. Chapter III highlights the potential impacts of lighting most of the Ontario greenhouse vegetable sector to the electricity grid. This study focuses on lighting intensity, lighting technology splits, and analyzes the impacts of sector growth and lighting adaptation. This study shows the impact of supplemental lighting through an electricity operation lens, prioritizing greenhouse variables that correlate to grid power consumption. Average lighting intensities were used to establish the electrical consumption and demand from the sector today, while adaptation of specific lighting technology splits was modelled on both today's sector and a projected sector. This chapter highlights key parameters that can potentially be regulated for power consumption efficiency and models the intense loads the grid could face. Furthermore, it highlights that the sectors power consumption can be volatile and presents a case for exploring other avenues to meet these growing electricity demands.

Chapter IV ties in the needs of both the greenhouse operator and grid operator, a current barrier in the industry. With greenhouse operators wanting to innovate on their own timeline and grid expansions requiring long planning and execution periods, DERs are a solution to both industries. To begin five greenhouses of mixed crops and lighting habits were chosen in the greenhouse hub of Ontario. This study models electrical consumption and demand for the greenhouses as separate entities and as a five-grower network. Cogeneration and battery designs were created and analyzed to meet the loads of both the individual greenhouses and the five-grower network to determine if any value comes from a collaboration as such. This chapter evaluates potential DER cost and fuel savings with collaboration through a twenty-five-year evaluation. It highlights electricity operations, costs, and assets in a modern investigation that has not yet been explored. Overall, this chapter concludes a thorough analysis and understanding of electrical loads through a contemporary solution to issues faced by both the greenhouse and electricity industries in Ontario.

The three chapters in this thesis combine to provide a valuable modelling toolset for greenhouse and electricity system operators in a manner that has yet to be done. Using industry data, these models can be adapted and referenced to apply to greenhouse sectors globally. The insights gained through such study can significantly aid in future grid planning through the understanding of greenhouse electricity operation.

REFERENCES

[1] LaPlante G, Andrekovic S, Young RG, Kelly JM, Bennett N, Currie EJ, et al. Canadian Greenhouse Operations and Their Potential to Enhance Domestic Food Security. Agronomy 2021;11:1229. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11061229.

[2] van Dijk M, Morley T, Rau ML, Saghai Y. A meta-analysis of projected global food demand and population at risk of hunger for the period 2010–2050. Nature Food 2021 2:7 2021;2:494–501. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-021-00322-9.

[3] Vatistas C, Avgoustaki DD, Bartzanas T. A Systematic Literature Review on Controlled-Environment Agriculture: How Vertical Farms and Greenhouses Can Influence the Sustainability and Footprint of Urban Microclimate with Local Food Production. Atmosphere (Basel) 2022;13. https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos13081258.

[4] Statistical Overview of the Canadian Greenhouse Vegetable Industry. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada 2022. https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2022/aac-aafc/A71-39-2020-eng.pdf (accessed November 11, 2022).

[5] Climate Zones and Planting Dates for Vegetables in Ontario n.d.http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/crops/facts/climzoneveg.htm (accessed November 15, 2022).

[6] Appolloni E, Orsini F, Pennisi G, Durany XG, Paucek I, Gianquinto G. Supplemental LED Lighting Effectively Enhances the Yield and Quality of Greenhouse Truss Tomato Production: Results of a Meta-Analysis. Front Plant Sci 2021;12:596927. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPLS.2021.596927.

[7] Marcelis LFM, Broekhuijsen AGM, Meinen E, Nijs EMFM, Raaphorst MGM.
Quantification of the growth response to light quantity of greenhouse grown crops. Acta
Hortic 2006;711:97–103. https://doi.org/10.17660/ACTAHORTIC.2006.711.9.

[8] Jin C, ZhiHu M, ZhiGang X, Huan Z, TaoTao C, HaiJun L. Effects of supplemental lighting with different light qualities on growth and physiological characteristics of cucumber, pepper and tomato seedlings. Acta Horticulturae Sinica 2009;36:663–70.

[9] Katzin D, Marcelis LFM, van Mourik S. Energy savings in greenhouses by transition from high-pressure sodium to LED lighting. Appl Energy 2021;281:116019. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2020.116019.

[10] D. E. Ciolkosz, A. J. Both, L. D. Albright. SELECTION AND PLACEMENT OF GREENHOUSE LUMINAIRES FOR UNIFORMITY. Appl Eng Agric 2001;17. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.6842.

[11] Blain J, Gosselin A, Trudel M-J. Influence of HPS Supplementary Lighting on Growth and Yield of Greenhouse Cucumbers. HortScience 1987;22:36–8. https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI.22.1.36. [12] Hao X, Papadopoulos AP. Effects of supplemental lighting and cover materials on growth, photosynthesis, biomass partitioning, early yield and quality of greenhouse cucumber. Sci Hortic 1999;80:1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4238(98)00217-9.

[13] Effects of Supplemental Light Duration on Greenhouse Sweet Pepper Plants and Fruit Yields n.d.

[14] Effects of supplemental lighting and cover materials on growth, photosynthesis, biomass partitioning, early yield and quality of greenhouse cucumber n.d. https://agris.fao.org/agris-search/search.do?recordID=NL1999002399 (accessed October 13, 2021).

[15] Xu L, Wei R, Xu L. Optimal greenhouse lighting scheduling using canopy light distribution model: A simulation study on tomatoes. Lighting Research & Technology 2020;52:233–46. https://doi.org/10.1177/1477153519825995.

[16] Dyśko J, Kaniszewski S. Effects of LED and HPS lighting on the growth, seedling morphology and yield of greenhouse tomatoes and cucumbers. Horticultural Science 2021;48 (2021):22–9. https://doi.org/10.17221/4/2020-HORTSCI.

[17] Deram P. Light-emitting-diode (LED) Lighting For Greenhouse Tomato Production. McGill University, 2013.

[18] Hatirli SA, Ozkan B, Fert C. Energy inputs and crop yield relationship in greenhouse tomato production. Renew Energy 2006;31:427–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RENENE.2005.04.007.

[19] LEDs and greenhouses: researchers are discovering new benefits. Save on Energy n.d. https://www.saveonenergy.ca/For-Business-and-Industry/Resources/LG-Researchers-are-discovering-new-benefits (accessed November 15, 2022).

[20] Independent Electricity System Operator. Greenhouse Energy Profile Study. 2018.

[21] The Price of Power: How to cut Canada's Net Zero electricity bill 2022. https://thoughtleadership.rbc.com/the-price-of-power-how-to-cut-canadas-net-zeroelectricity-bill/ (accessed November 16, 2022).

[22] The electricity crisis in Leamington, Ontario - Greenhouse Canada 2022. https://www.greenhousecanada.com/the-electricity-crisis-in-leamington-ontario/ (accessed November 16, 2022).

[23] Grid Capacity Update – Greenhouse Trusted Advisor | Energy Management | Carbon Reduction Consultants n.d. https://360energy.net/grid-capacity-update-greenhouse-trusted-advisor/ (accessed November 16, 2022).

[24] Distributed energy resource assessment and technology development n.d. https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/energy/energy-offices-and-labs/canmetenergy/canmetenergy-

varennes/distributed-energy-resource-assessment-and-technology-development/24239 (accessed November 15, 2022).

[25] Tataraki K, Giannini E, Kavvadias K, Maroulis Z. Cogeneration economics for greenhouses in Europe. Energies (Basel) 2020;13. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN13133373.

[26] Vermeulen PCM, van der Lans CJM. Combined heat and power (CHP) as a possible method for reduction of the CO2 footprint of organic greenhouse horticulture. Acta Hortic 2011;915:61–8. https://doi.org/10.17660/ACTAHORTIC.2011.915.7.

[27] Tabors R, Caramanis M, Ntakou E, Parker G, Vanalstyne M, Centolella P, et al. Distributed Energy Resources: New Markets and New Products. 50th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2017, p. 2993–3002.

[28] How a Greenhouse in Learnington Overcame Electricity Shortage with Cogeneration n.d. https://web.ttpowergroup.com/blog/learnington-chp-project (accessed November 16, 2022).

CHAPTER II PLANNING FOR THE MASSIVE ENERGY IMPACT OF GREENHOUSE LIGHTING IN ONTARIO Lysandra Naom¹, Rupp Carriveau¹, Lindsay Miller¹, Xiuming Hao², Shalin Khosla³,

¹Envrionmental Energy Institute, University of Windsor

²Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada

³Khosla Consulting

⁴Allegro Acres

Gene Ingratta⁴

1. INTRODUCTION

The COVID-19 pandemic and the shutdown of international borders for trade and travel have impacted the Ontario greenhouse sector and increased the importance of local food production for communities [1,2]. Global food insecurity doubled from January to December 2020 and Canada depends heavily on the international fresh vegetable trade due to seasonal changes [3]. Therefore, further investment of innovative technologies for the agricultural sector is fundamental for food security and economic development [4].

Ontario's greenhouse sector is vital to the Canadian economy; it accounted for \$3.2 billion in GDP in 2016 and is expanding four to five percent annually [5,6]. Currently, the Ontario greenhouse vegetable sector is composed of approximately 315 greenhouses planting cucumbers, peppers, and tomatoes [7]. These greenhouses account for 660 acres of cucumbers, 980 acres of tomatoes, and 990 acres of peppers, and the number of acres continue to grow [8]. With greenhouse vegetables being produced out of season, there are benefits of higher economic profit on the produce itself [9]. Given the COVID-19 pandemic and increases in operating expenses and labour shortages, innovation and expansion are key to ensuring that the greenhouse sector can respond to Canadians' nutritional needs [1]. Additionally, this innovation and expansion comes with an urgent need for analysis and solution to support this transition to year-round produce. Overall, consumer demand for year-round local greenhouse vegetables is increasing, therefore the Ontario greenhouse sector (and sectors like it) require(s) year-round solutions and the information to implement them. [10–14]

Seasonal changes impact the amount of natural sunlight that the crop receives, thereby challenging the ability to consistently grow to produce year-round without reliance on additional systems like supplemental lighting [15–18]. Supplemental lighting (SL) is more common in the Netherlands, Canada, and the northern United States due to the shorter day length during winter periods[19]. Around the globe this need only increases with increases in latitude. In an SL study on tomatoes, sweet peppers, and cucumbers, researchers found that Canada produced 15% more crop yield than the Netherlands, while also naturally

receiving 15% more light [20,21]. This illustrates a common rule that generally, for every 1% increase in lighting, an increase of 1% in yield can be expected, although other crop measures including CO_2 influence this as well [22,23]. Currently, in Ontario's vegetable sector, supplemental lighting is commercially practiced for cucumber and tomato crops, whereas it is an uncommon practice for sweet peppers [24]. In 2019, Allegro Acres located in Kingsville, Ontario, was announced as the first commercial winter pepper grower in Canada, lighting four acres with LED lighting. Two years later, in April 2021, it was reported that 363 acres of cucumbers, 333 acres of tomatoes, and 4 acres of peppers use supplemental lighting in Ontario, making Allegro Acres still the only lit pepper grower in Ontario. While the pepper crop itself represents over a third of the Ontario greenhouse vegetable crops, only 1.5% of that crop uses supplemental lighting in comparison to 27% of all greenhouse vegetable crops. [8]. With the pepper industry being introduced to supplemental lighting in Ontario, there is an increase in interest from greenhouse operators to know if supplemental lighting is worth the investment. As this increase in interest turns into implementation, the greenhouse sector could face a massive change that must be planned for. This emphasizes the need to explore the interconnectivity of energy and food, as the growth in demand of food historically increases the need for energy [25]. Although this study is based in Ontario, exploring this new development of pepper supplemental lighting can easily be translated to other regions and will be a necessity to understand the disruption associated with it.

Supplemental lighting options, such as High-Pressure Sodium (HPS) and Light Emitting Diodes (LEDs), are common lighting fixtures used in greenhouses when natural sunlight is not available to maintain greenhouse crop production [26]. HPS lighting is known for its wide spectrum of light and radiative heat, which reduces greenhouse heating system loads, and it is currently seen as an industry standard [27–29]. LEDs, a new technology for lighting in greenhouses, have been shown to improve crop yield and quality in commercial crops [22]. Additionally, LEDs are smaller, faster switching, more durable and electrically efficient in comparison to HPS lights [27,30–33]. The increased energy efficiency of LED lights and the ability to select wavelength recipes according to what benefits the crop has made LEDs more appealing to the sector [29,34–37]. Given these options for supplemental lighting, greenhouses need to consider both HPS and LED fixtures for pepper crops and this paper will focus on different lighting combinations, electricity consumption and demand, and their electricity cost for commercial sweet pepper greenhouse vegetables.

While lighting pepper crops is relatively new in Ontario, the effectiveness can be evaluated by considering research practices and studies. In a Quebec study, in comparison to natural light, sweet peppers were shown to have an increase in crop yield up to 33% with an 18-h to 24-h photoperiod of supplemental lighting [23]. An HPS lighting study in Finland showed that with the lights at varying canopy heights the fruit yield increased by 23% [24]. Based on a toplight HPS and LED interlighting study, the pepper crop produced more yield and higher quality in comparison to HPS toplighting only [38] These LED interlighting study on cucumber, tomato, and pepper transplants, it was found that in terms of desirable characteristics of the transplant, LED lighting was as effective as HPS lighting [40]. Based on

these studies' lighting recipes, HPS lights, LEDs, and a combination of the two should be considered in a sweet pepper greenhouse, as all three offer benefits in yield. Supplemental lighting has been proven globally in research studies and in practice in commercial greenhouses. Although supplemental lighting is innovative and beneficial for productivity in the greenhouse sector, it is important to consider the challenges.

The introduction of supplemental lighting in a greenhouse result in increased costs. When adding supplemental lighting, capital costs associated with the fixtures and electricity costs to operate them become additional greenhouse expenses. Compared to general agricultural energy usage, greenhouses energy consumption is considered the largest consumer [41]. Energy in a greenhouse includes a heating system and an electrical system. The electrical load for unlit greenhouses is a combination of electricity to operate a gas boiler, irrigation systems, fans, pumps, and additional minor office equipment. Without supplemental lighting, energy costs (electricity and fossil fuels) are 20-30% of the total greenhouse production costs, whereas a recent study suggests that supplemental lighting electricity costs alone can amount to 30% of a greenhouse's expenses [42,43]. Although, the greenhouse's increase in electricity demand and consumption and thus electricity prices [9,23]. This increase in electricity costs directly correlates with a dramatic increase for grid operators and utilities for electrical demand and consumption [44].

Considering industry-standard lighting fixtures, HPS lighting can range from 600W-1000W and LEDs 340-700W. In contrast, although HPS has a higher electricity operational cost, its capital cost is lower than LED [31,45,46]. Greenhouses are faced with the challenge of navigating the various lighting fixtures, recipes, and yields, leaving the electricity analysis of supplemental lighting overlooked. The lack of electricity analysis is critical and detrimental to areas where electricity supply is already limited as there is no impact analysis for greenhouse and electricity operators. Without this analysis, there is potential for supplemental lights to remain unused in a greenhouse as the electricity to power them will be unavailable without proper forethought.

Due to the lack of supplemental lighting in Ontario sweet pepper operations, there is less year-round pepper produce when compared with cucumbers and tomatoes. Considering the potential benefits of year-round availability, yield increase, and off-season sale prices, there is a sector need for an analysis of the capital and electricity costs of supplemental lighting in Ontario greenhouses. The purpose of this paper is to analyze the economic feasibility of the electricity costs for an unlit pepper crop and a pepper crop with supplemental lighting and the associated electricity changes. This analysis is pivotal for the sector as the electricity demand and consumption must be planned for by greenhouse and electricity operators to aid this vital need of sector growth. This study will outline the transition of an acre of unlit peppers to HPS lighting and LED lighting which can be used for grid planning when projecting the future electricity consumption of the sector. Variables that will be considered include greenhouse location and material, crop cycle, electrical consumption, and various lighting recipes and fixtures. Overall, this study includes an analysis outlining the unlit, HPS lit, and

LED lit pepper greenhouse crop and the associated electricity demand, consumption, and operational costs. Hence, the objective of this study is to analyze the implementation of supplemental lighting in a pepper greenhouse and its considerable impact on electricity consumption and cost to help project the electrical development of the sector. It should be noted that while peppers are one of three major greenhouse crops in this region, the total electrical lighting demand for cucumbers and tomatoes is of a similar magnitude.

2. METHOD

Sunlight conditions are analyzed near the greenhouse hub of Leamington, Ontario. Both an unlit double-polyethylene (poly) greenhouse and a glass greenhouse will be analyzed to understand the electrical demand and load of the unlit crop. Per acre, there can be marginal differences in the energy demand between poly and glass greenhouses. To develop a more diversely "representative" unlit pepper greenhouse we have averaged the electrical demand of the two sites. To model a lit pepper crop, a greenhouse base load and supplemental lighting load must be considered. The estimated electrical consumption of an unlit pepper crop also is here used as the base load of a lit pepper crop. To accurately model the diverse lighting options, different lighting fixtures and common lighting recipes are explored for the supplemental lighting load. The number of supplemental lighting fixtures will be found per acre and the associated electrical demand and annual consumption are calculated. Then, the base load is added to an averaged lighting design to represent a supplemental lit crop electrical load. The capital and electricity operation costs of a sweet pepper greenhouse with no supplemental lighting, with HPS lighting, and with LED lighting in Ontario will be estimated.

2.1. UNLIT SWEET PEPPER GREENHOUSE ELECTRICAL LOAD

The electrical load of an unlit greenhouse is influenced by the crop cycle, greenhouse covering material, and weather. Depending on these influencing factors, certain equipment will be used, leading to an increase or decrease in the electrical load. An analysis of an unlit 20-acre double-polyethylene and 24-acre glass greenhouse sweet pepper greenhouse will be completed to demonstrate the base electrical load. This will be completed by utilizing collaborating greenhouse facility hourly electricity data and normalized on a per acre basis.

2.2. CROP CYCLE

To understand where the fluctuation in the load occurs, the crop cycle for both greenhouses is presented in Table II-1. For instance, when the crop is planted, the irrigation system and boiler will be used to sustain the plant's healthy crop cycle and temperature. Typically, when there is no crop present, the empty greenhouse uses minimal electricity to prevent pipes from

freezing. This creates changes in the electrical load, however, for this study, the crops will be averaged to provide a general understanding of a year-round load.

Greenhouse	Planting Date	Tear out Date	Empty Time Period
20 Acre Double- Polyethylene	December 15	November 15	Mid Nov – Mid Dec
24 Acre Glass	January 15	November 15	Mid Nov – Mid Jan

Table II-1: Greenhouse Crop Cycle

2.3. GREENHOUSE MATERIAL

To account for the difference in electrical requirements based on the greenhouse material, both a double-polyethylene and glass greenhouse will be examined. Depending on the greenhouse material, the transmissivity of a greenhouse varies which contributes to a variation in electricity usage to operate the boiler system [47]. The loads for these two greenhouses will be averaged as a per acre representation of an average unlit pepper greenhouse load.

2.4. LIT SWEET PEPPER GREENHOUSE ELECTRICAL LOAD

The electrical load of a lit greenhouse is influenced by the same factors as the unlit greenhouse and an additional supplemental lighting load.

2.5. SUPPLEMENTAL LIGHTING

Daily light integral (DLI) is the amount of photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) measured in mol per meter squared per day [48]. DLI represents the useful light that assists with plant growth. A target DLI for greenhouse peppers ranges from 16-18 mol/m²-day [48]. To find the amount of natural sunlight that is useful to the greenhouse pepper crop, the natural sunlight, the transmissivity of greenhouse material, and the fraction of light need to be considered. On average, the transmission of natural sunlight onto the crop itself is 50% due to greenhouse material transmission as well as a blockage from the supplemental fixtures and pipes. Of the global solar radiation, only 50% of the fraction of light is useful to the crop as PAR [49].

To determine the amount of crop useful DLI in the greenhouse, the outdoor DLI near the Leamington, ON greenhouse hub area will be taken as the input natural sunlight. The natural sunlight will be based on a 20-year average of outdoor DLI in Harrow ON, located 33.5 km away from Leamington, ON. To find the crop useful DLI in the greenhouse, the natural sunlight will be multiplied by the 50% light transmissivity, and again by the 50% fraction of light. This is demonstrated by Equation 1 [49].

Crop Useful DLI in the Greenhouse = Natural Sunlight * 50% Lighting Tranmission * 50% Fraction of Light (Equation II-1)

The results from this calculation are shown in Figure II-1 as crop useful sunlight transmission.



Figure II-1: 20 Year Daily Light Integral Natural Sunlight Transmission in Harrow, ON

To find the supplemental DLI needed, the crop useful DLI was subtracted by the targeted greenhouse DLI as shown in Equation 2. In this case, the targeted DLI was a range of 16-18 mol/m²-day, resulting in approximately 21.3% of added light for the crop annually. The results of the supplemental DLI needs can be shown in Figure II-2.



Supplemental DLI $(molm^{-2}day^{-1}) = Targetted Greenhouse DLI - Crop Useful DLI (Equation II-2)$

Figure II-2: Supplemental DLI in Harrow, ON

To meet these supplemental DLI targets both lighting cycle and fixture details must be considered.

2.6. LIGHTING CYCLES

Based on pepper studies, the recommended intensity is 150- 175 μ mol/m²/s for a 16-hour photoperiod [23,50]. However, further research states that under continuous lighting periods, the pepper crop can benefit, seeing an increase in yield of 33% for an 18-hour and 24-hour photoperiod in comparison with no supplemental lighting [50,51]. Generally, photoperiods of 16, 18, and 24-hour of supplemental lighting show an increase in yield as compared to solely natural lighting [24,50,52–54]. Using this information, sector expert knowledge, and practices used by greenhouse operators today, four lighting methods, as shown in Table II-2, will be considered to evaluate the impact of supplemental lighting on electricity consumption.

Table II-2: Lighting Methodology

Lighting Method	Туре	Intensity (µmol/m²/s)	Lighting Period (hrs)
1	HPS	200	16
2	LED	200	16
3	LED	175	16
4	LED	(1) 160 then (2) 80	(1) 16 then (2) 8

2.7. LIGHTING FIXTURES

To perform this lighting method at a greenhouse, four lighting fixtures were chosen. This will be completed with one HPS lighting fixture and three different LED lighting fixtures. These fixtures are currently popular in sector practice and provide different customization abilities. For this study, the wattage and lighting output will be considered only. The four lighting fixture details are shown in Table II-3.

Table II-3: Lighting Fixture Details

Lighting Fixture	Company	Model	Wattage (W)	Light Output (µmol/s)	Туре
Α	Agrolux	ALF1000 HPS DE	1000	2100	HPS
В	Fluence	VR-3P-BW3	620	1680	LED
С	Signify	GPL TLC 2400 DRB_LB 277-400V 1.2D SB xP	700	2400	LED
D	Sollum Tech.	SF4	340	720	LED

2.8. LIGHTING COMBINATIONS

Using the information from Table II-2 and Table II-3 the following lighting method and fixture combinations will be explored: 1A, 2B, 2C, 2D, 3B, 3C, 3D, 4B, 4C, and 4D. To find the electricity

consumption of these combinations the power of each fixture, the number of fixtures, and the annual hourly usage are needed.

First, the power of each fixture can be found in Table II-3 as Wattage (W). Next, the number of fixtures was calculated using Equation II-3 where fixture light output is found in Table II-3 and lighting recipe intensity is found in Table II-2.

Number of Fixtures per Acre = $\frac{4046.86\frac{m^2}{acre}}{\frac{Fixture \ Light \ Output \ (\mu mols^{-1})}{Lighting \ Recipe \ Intensity \ (\mu molm^{-2}s^{-1})}}$ (Equation II-3)

The daily hours on can be calculated by Equation II-4 where supplemental DLI is taken from Figure 2 and intensity is taken from Table II-3.

$$Hours ON per Acre = \frac{Supplemental DLI(molm^{-2}day^{-1})}{Intensity (umolm^{-2}s^{-1})*3600\frac{seconds}{hour}*\frac{1x10^{-6}mol}{umol}}$$
(Equation II-4)

This calculation was complete for a full year and done for the five lighting combinations. The results for the different lighting combinations are shown in Figure II-3.



LIGHTING METHODS: HOURS ON

Figure II-3: Lighting Method Results Hours ON per Week

Electricity demand is the maximum one-hour period of electricity usage as defined by the electrical utility. Using the lighting fixture power (W) and the number of fixtures, the lighting electricity demand can be calculated by Equation II-5.

Lighting Electricity Demand
$$(kW/Acre) = \frac{\text{Lighting Fixture Power }(W)*Number of Fixtures}{1,000\frac{W}{kWh}}$$

(Equation II-5)

Using the lighting electricity demand and the annual hourly usage, the annual electricity lighting consumption can be calculated by Equation II-6.

Annual Electricity Consumption (MWh) = Lighting Electricity Demand (kW) * Annual Hourly Usage * 1,000 $\frac{kW}{MW}$ (Equation II-6)

Overall, the number of fixtures, annual hourly usage, demand (kW), and annual electricity consumption (MWh) per acre for these lighting combinations are summarized in Table II-4.

PER ACRE	1 A	2B	2C	2D	3B	3C	3D	4B		4C		4D	
NUMBER OF FIXTURES	385	482	337	1,124	422	295	984	385	193	270	135	899	450
ANNUAL HOURLY USAGE (HOURS)	1,732	1,732	1,732	1,732	1,939	1,939	1,939	2,051	229	2,051	229	2,051	229
LIGHTING DEMAND (KW)	385	299	236	382	261	207	334	239	119	189	94	306	153
ANNUAL LIGHTING CONSUMPTION (MWH)	667	518	409	662	507	400	649	51	7	40	19	66	52

Table II-4: Summary of Lighting Combination Results

2.9. UNLIT AND LIT CROP ELECTRICAL LOAD MODELLING

The unlit sweet pepper greenhouse will be modelled by averaging the glass and double poly greenhouses electrical load by acre. Next, the supplemental lighting combinations demand and electrical consumption will be shown. To model a lit sweet pepper greenhouse, the averaged per acre electrical load for an unlit crop will be used as the base load. This base load will then be added to the lighting electrical consumption to find the total electrical load of a lit sweet pepper greenhouse. The lighting recipe 1A will be used to show an estimated electrical consumption of an HPS lit acre. The LED recipes 2, 3, and 4 and fixtures B and C were averaged. From there, an average power value of 660W, 397 fixtures per acre, and 1945 annual lighting hours were used to represent a LED lit pepper greenhouse which results in consumption of 509,629 kWh per acre a year.

2.10. COST ANALYSIS

To fairly determine the cost differences between HPS and LEDs, both capital and operational costs must be considered. Capital costs per acre can be calculated by using the fixtures per acre and the cost per fixture. Based on a local provider to the Leamington/Kingsville area, a capital cost of \$240 CAD per HPS fixture and \$1,000 CAD per LED fixture will be modeled. In this case, installation costs were not considered. Operational costs per acre requires the annual electricity consumption and the electricity cost. Using the fixture power values, the fixtures per acre, and the annual lighting hours for both HPS and LED lighting recipes, the

annual electricity consumption can be calculated. For electricity cost, in Ontario, customers are charged different rates based on their average monthly peak demand [55]. Customers are charged as Class A customers if their demand is greater than 500 kW and as Class B if their demand is less than 500 kW [55]. To accurately represent the current greenhouse sector, both rates will be included. Modelling this based on 2019 electricity costs in Ontario, an annual average electricity rate of \$0.03/kWh will be used for a Class A customer and \$0.13/kWh for a Class B customer.

2.11. YIELD ANALYSIS AND SIMPLE PAYBACK PERIOD

Based on statistics in Ontario taken from the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs, in 2021 the average production of greenhouse peppers in lbs per acre is 227,782 [56]. Early field trials of the lighting types engaged in this study revealed an anecdotal correlation that for every 1% of added lighting roughly equates to 1% of yield. This approximation of the increase in yield is calculated per acre based on the percent increase of annual lighting. In this study, the increase in lighting is approximated to be 21%. Based on statistics in Ontario taken from the Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs, the average price of greenhouse peppers in 2021 was \$1.32/lb [56]. Applying the percent increase in lighting to the average lbs per acre, the average lbs per acre for a lit crop can be calculated. To find the annual sale dollars per acre of peppers, the average price of greenhouse peppers and the average yield will be used.

The simple payback period will then be calculated using the capital costs of the fixtures, additional crop yield profit, and annual electricity costs as shown in Equation II-7.

$$Payback Period (yr) = \frac{Capital Cost (\$)}{\left(Crop Yield Profit \left(\frac{\$}{yr}\right) - Electricity Costs \left(\frac{\$}{yr}\right)\right)}$$
(Equation II-7)

2.12. ONTARIO PEPPER INDUSTRY GRID PROJECTION

The addition of supplemental lighting is not only impacting the greenhouses installing them but also the electricity grids that must supply the electrical load. To project this potential surge in demand, the electricity consumption and demand will be modelled for both HPS and LED at 0%, 50%, and 100% of the acres using each technology. Based on statistics from the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers (OGVG), it was reported in 2020 that there are 990 acres of greenhouse peppers. After conducting the annual electricity consumption and maximum electricity demand analysis, this will be applied to the total acreage of peppers. This analysis is crucial for future grid planning as the need for agricultural product and thus consuming innovation like supplemental lighting surges.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. UNLIT SWEET PEPPER ELECTRICITY LOAD

First, the monthly electricity demand (kW) per acre was assessed for both the glass and double poly greenhouse. The results for each month of the unlit pepper crops are shown in Figure II-4. Due to the nature of the crop cycle and the greenhouse material, the demand is higher in a double poly greenhouse in January to July and December. If the demands for these greenhouses are examined as an annual total, the electrical demand in a double poly greenhouse is 8% more than a glass greenhouse.



Figure II-4: Monthly Electricity Demand per Acre of an Unlit Pepper Greenhouse

Next, the total consumption (kWh) per acre was analyzed for both greenhouses as shown in Figure II-5. This is the monthly total electricity consumption used per acre of the unlit pepper crop greenhouse. When comparing the annual electricity per acre which includes one full crop cycle of an unlit pepper greenhouse, the consumption is 11% more for a double poly greenhouse.



Figure II-5: Monthly Electricity Consumption per Acre of an Unlit Pepper Greenhouse

With both unlit pepper greenhouses modeled per acre, these values can be averaged and taken as the base load of a lit greenhouse. The average monthly electricity demand and monthly electricity consumption can be found in Figure II-6 and Figure II-7 respectively.



Figure II-6: Unlit Sweet Pepper Greenhouse Crop Monthly Electricity Demand (kW/Acre)



Figure II-7: Unlit Sweet Pepper Greenhouse Crop Monthly Electricity Consumption (MWh/Acre)

3.2. LIT SWEET PEPPER ELECTRICITY LOAD

Similarly, the results of the supplemental lighting recipes are shown as electrical demand in Figure II-8 and monthly electrical consumption in Figure II-9. Comparing the lighting methods, HPS generally use more than the LED fixtures, however, the consumption is close when using specialty LEDs like fixture D. In terms of lighting recipes, recipe 4 uses the least amount of electricity followed by recipe 3 and 2 respectively.






Figure II-9: Lighting Methods Total Electrical Consumption (MWh)

3.3. UNLIT, HPS LIT, AND LED LIT SWEET PEPPER ELECTRICITY LOAD

First, the unlit pepper greenhouse load is used to represent no supplemental lighting and is also the base load for the lit models. This base load is then added to the HPS lighting method to represent HPS lighting. Lastly, the base load is added to the LED average to represent LED lighting. The comparison between an unlit acre, a HPS lit acre, and a LED lit acre's electricity demand and monthly consumption can be found in Figure II-10 and Figure II-11 respectively.



Figure II-10: Sweet Pepper Greenhouse Monthly Demand (kW/Acre)



Figure II-11: Sweet Pepper Greenhouse Monthly Electricity Consumption (MWh/Acre)

Analyzing these values, on average, an HPS and LED lit crop have 27x and 19x more monthly demand than the unlit crop. It can be stated that on average an HPS lit greenhouse uses 15 times more electricity annually compared to an unlit pepper greenhouse. Similarly, an LED lit greenhouse uses 11 times more electricity annually compared to an unlit pepper greenhouse. Comparing an LED lit greenhouse to an HPS greenhouse, approximately 25% of annual electricity can be saved by using LEDs.

3.4. COST ANALYSIS

Based on the HPS and LED lighting assumptions, the cost per fixture, and the Ontario Class A and Class B electricity charges, an estimate of capital and operational costs for an HPS and LED customer are shown in Table II-5.

SDECIFICATION	LIGHTING TYPE		
SPECIFICATION	Unlit	HPS	LED
FIXTURES PER ACRE	-	385	397
COST PER FIXTURE	-	\$240	\$1,000
CAPEX	-	\$92,400	\$397,000
ANNUAL ELECTRICITY CONSUMPTION (KWH) PER ACRE	49,314	716,134	559,006
CLASS A RATE (\$/KWH)		\$0.03	
CLASS B RATE (\$/KWH)		\$0.13	
CLASS A CUSTOMER COST PER ACRE	\$1,479	\$21,484	\$16,770
CLASS B CUSTOMER COST PER ACRE	\$6,411	\$93,097	\$72,671
CLASS A LED ELECTRICITY SAVINGS	-	\$4,	714
CLASS B LED ELECTRICITY SAVINGS	-	\$20	,427

Table II-5: CAPEX and Operational Costs

From these results, a few observations can be made. Adding HPS and LED lighting can increase annual electricity costs by 14.5x and 11.3x more in comparison to unlit. When comparing HPS and LED capital costs per acre, LEDs cost 4.3x more. Analyzing the operational values, a HPS customer pays 31% more than if they were operating LED lighting.

3.5. YIELD ANALYSIS AND SIMPLE PAYBACK PERIOD

Due to a 21% increased exposure to lighting, the crop yield increases by the same factor resulting in an average production of 273,338 lbs/acre. While the unlit acre would have an average pepper sale of \$300,672, the lit acre would have \$360,806, approximately a \$60,000 increase.

Taking into consideration the capital cost and profits from the addition yield due to the lighting, a baseline simple payback period can be determined. For a Class A electricity customer, the payback period for HPS and LED is approximately 2.9 and 9.5 years respectively. For a Class B electricity customer, since the cost of operating lights on this electrical cost structure exceeds the profit from the additional yield, it is not feasible to light an acre or more at this rate structure. However, if additional profits are explored such as the impacts of heat energy from lighting, this may have a different outcome.

3.6. ONTARIO PEPPER INDUSTRY GRID PROJECTION

Without adequate grid capacity, the Ontario greenhouse industry's widespread usage of supplemental lighting can be severely delayed. The annual grid consumption and maximum demand for all acres of Ontario greenhouse peppers can be found in Table II-6. Assuming 100% of these acres turn to HPS and LED lighting, this increases the grid consumption by 15x

and 11x. These values are especially inflated when looking at the impact of demand if all acres turned to lighting, increasing by 35x and 24x for HPS and LED.

	0	%	50	%	10	0%
	HPS	LED	HPS	LED	HPS	LED
Grid Consumption (MWh/year)	48,820	48,820	378,894	301,143	708,968	553,465
Grid Consumption Multiplier	1	1	8	6	15	11
Demand (MW)	11	11	202	141	392	271
Demand Multiplier	1	1	18	12	35	24

Table II-6: Projections for the Ontario Pepper Industry

4. CONCLUSIONS

Supplemental lighting enables commercial greenhouses produce during the low light winter months and greater yields, this contributes to evolving demand for local produce, a growing population, and food security. The addition of this supplemental lighting also creates an inflation of electricity demand and consumption. The analysis of an unlit Southern Ontario pepper greenhouse provides a benchmark electricity demand profile that may be referenced and compared to other regions. By exploring various lighting fixtures and recipes, which can be applied globally, pepper greenhouses and electricity operators will now have a better understanding of the corresponding electrical loads and demands to avoid the potential disruptive impact and appropriately grid plan. As interest in year-round growing continues to expand, supplemental lighting loads will become much more common, modelling and understanding the influence of these massive loads is critical to avoid electricity disruption. Based on the results of this study, the following conclusions can be made about the electricity consumption, demand, capital costs, operational costs, and payback periods of unlit, HPS lit, and LED lit greenhouse produced sweet peppers in Ontario.

Compared to the unlit crop:

- 1. The addition of HPS lighting on average would increase the demand load by 27x.
- 2. The addition of HPS lighting on average would increase the annual electrical load by 15x.
- 3. The addition of LED lighting on average would increase the demand load by 17x.
- 4. The addition of LED lighting on average would increase the annual electrical load by 11x.
- 5. When comparing LED lighting to HPS lighting, approximately 25% of annual electricity and 30% of annual average demand can be saved.

Comparing unlit, HPS, and LED capital and operational costs as well as payback period in Ontario:

1. LEDs capital cost is 4.3x more HPS.

- 2. HPS and LEDs increase annual operational costs by 14.5x and 11.3x compared to unlit peppers.
- 3. Operating LED lighting instead of HPS has a 31% electricity savings.
- 4. Class A customers have a HPS and LED lighting payback of approximately 3 years and 10 years respectively.
- 5. For Class B customers, installation of supplemental lighting without exploring additional funding or profits is unfeasible.

Projecting supplemental lighting to the entirety of the Ontario greenhouse pepper industry illustrates the sectors growth impact on the electricity grid. All acres adapting supplemental lighting would multiply the current assumption of load by the following:

- 1. HPS lighting increases electricity consumption and demand by 15x and 35x.
- 2. LED lighting increases electricity consumption and demand by 11x and 24x.
- 3. LED lighting can reduce the demand by 121 MW in comparison to HPS lighting.

Although the main electricity consumption is dependent on sunlight trends in southwestern Ontario, the difference and analysis between lighting recipes and the electricity demand can be applied internationally. The electricity and fixture costs, total electricity consumption, and overall comparison of annual electrical load is southwestern Ontario dependent. This investigation of supplemental lighting can be used as a planning tool to help characterize the future electricity demand of this and similar greenhouse sectors.

REFERENCES

- LaPlante G, Andrekovic S, Young RG, Kelly JM, Bennett N, Currie EJ, et al. Canadian Greenhouse Operations and Their Potential to Enhance Domestic Food Security. Agronomy 2021;11:1229. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11061229.
- [2] Lal R. Home gardening and urban agriculture for advancing food and nutritional security in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Food Secur 2020;12:871–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12571-020-01058-3.
- [3] Hailu G. Economic thoughts on COVID-19 for Canadian food processors. Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics/Revue Canadienne d'agroeconomie 2020;68:163– 9. https://doi.org/10.1111/CJAG.12241.
- [4] Raihan A, Tuspekova A. Nexus between economic growth, energy use, agricultural productivity, and carbon dioxide emissions: new evidence from Nepal. Energy Nexus 2022;7:100113. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEXUS.2022.100113.
- [5] Government of Ontario. Ontario Supporting Competitiveness in the Greenhouse Sector | Ontario Newsroom 2021. https://news.ontario.ca/en/release/60122/ontario-supporting-competitiveness-inthe-greenhouse-sector (accessed December 26, 2021).
- [6] Major funding for Ontario greenhouse sector Greenhouse Canada. Greenhouse Canada 2017. https://www.greenhousecanada.com/major-funding-for-ontariogreenhouse-sector-31823/ (accessed December 19, 2021).
- [7] Statistical Overview of the Canadian Greenhouse Vegetable Industry, 2019 agriculture.canada.ca. Agriculture Canada 2019. https://agriculture.canada.ca/en/canadas-agriculturesectors/horticulture/horticulture-sector-reports/statistical-overview-canadiangreenhouse-vegetable-industry-2019#a1.1 (accessed December 19, 2021).
- [8] Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers 2021. https://www.ogvg.com/about (accessed December 19, 2021).
- [9] Zhang H, Burr J, Zhao F. A comparative life cycle assessment (LCA) of lighting technologies for greenhouse crop production. J Clean Prod 2017;140:705–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.01.014.
- [10] Brown C. Consumers' preferences for locally produced food: A study in southeast Missouri. 2003.
- [11] Burnett P, Kuethe T, Price C. Consumer Preference for Locally Grown Produce: An Analysis of Willingness-to-Pay and Geographic Scale. J Agric Food Syst Community Dev 2011:269–78. https://doi.org/10.5304/jafscd.2011.021.013.

- [12] Conner DS, Montri AD, Montri DN, Hamm MW. Consumer demand for local produce at extended season farmers' markets: Guiding farmer marketing strategies. Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems 2009;24:251–9. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1742170509990044.
- [13] Riefler P. Local versus global food consumption: the role of brand authenticity 2019. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCM-02-2019-3086.
- [14] Stanton J, Wirth FF, Dao Y. An Analysis of Consumers' Preferences between Locally Grown/Processed Food and Organic Food. Curr Inves Agri Curr Res 2018;4. https://doi.org/10.32474/CIACR.2018.04.000180.
- [15] Paponov M, Kechasov D, Lacek J, Verheul MJ, Paponov IA. Supplemental Light-Emitting Diode Inter-Lighting Increases Tomato Fruit Growth Through Enhanced Photosynthetic Light Use Efficiency and Modulated Root Activity. Front Plant Sci 2020;10:1656. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPLS.2019.01656/BIBTEX.
- [16] Tewolde FT, Shiina K, Maruo T, Takagaki M, Kozai T, Yamori W. Supplemental LED inter-lighting compensates for a shortage of light for plant growth and yield under the lack of sunshine. PLoS One 2018;13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206592.
- [17] Timmermans GH, Hemming S, Baeza E, van Thoor EAJ, Schenning APHJ, Debije MG. Advanced Optical Materials for Sunlight Control in Greenhouses. Adv Opt Mater 2020;8:2000738. https://doi.org/10.1002/adom.202000738.
- [18] Ohashi-Kaneko K, Tarase M, Noya KON, Fujiwara K, Kurata K. Effect of light quality on growth and vegetable quality in leaf lettuce, spinach and komatsuna.
 Environmental Control in Biology 2007;45:189–98.
 https://doi.org/10.2525/ECB.45.189.
- [19] Joshi NC, Ratner K, Eidelman O, Bednarczyk D, Zur N, Many Y, et al. Effects of daytime intra-canopy LED illumination on photosynthesis and productivity of bell pepper grown in protected cultivation. Sci Hortic 2019;250:81–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2019.02.039.
- [20] Lu N, Mitchell CA. Supplemental lighting for greenhouse-grown fruiting vegetables. LED Lighting for Urban Agriculture 2016:219–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-1848-0_16.
- [21] Heuvelink E, Bakker MJ, Hogendonk L, Janse J, Kaarsemaker R, Maaswinkel R. Horticultural lighting in the Netherlands: New developments. Acta Hortic 2006;711:25–33. https://doi.org/10.17660/ACTAHORTIC.2006.711.1.
- [22] Jones MA. Horticulture Research Using light to improve commercial value 2018;5:47. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41438-018-0049-7.

- [23] Linares G, Hernani-Limarino W. The Use of Supplemental Lighting for Vegetable Crop Production: Light Intensity, Crop Response, Nutrition, Crop Management, Cultural Practices. Canadian Greenhouse Conference 2003.
- [24] Hovi-Pekkanen T, Näkkilä J, Tahvonen R. Increasing productivity of sweet pepper with interlighting. Acta Hortic 2006;711:165–70. https://doi.org/10.17660/ACTAHORTIC.2006.711.19.
- [25] Albatayneh A, Hindiyeh M, AlAmawi R. Potential of renewable energy in waterenergy-food nexus in Jordan. Energy Nexus 2022;7:100140. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEXUS.2022.100140.
- [26] Garcia-Caparros P, Chica RM, Almansa EM, Rull A, Rivas LA, García-Buendía A, et al. Comparisons of different lighting systems for horticultural seedling production aimed at energy saving. Sustainability (Switzerland) 2018;10. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10093351.
- [27] Bagdonavičienė A, Brazaitytė A, Viršilė A, Samuolienė G, Jankauskienė J, Sirtautas R, et al. CULTIVATION OF SWEET PEPPER (Capsicum annuum L.) TRANSPLANTS UNDER HIGH PRESSURE SODIUM LAMPS SUPPLEMENTED BY LIGHT-EMITTING DIODES OF VARIOUS WAVELENGTHS. Acta Sci Pol Hortorum Cultus 2015;14:3–14.
- [28] Katzin D, Marcelis LFM, van Mourik S. Energy savings in greenhouses by transition from high-pressure sodium to LED lighting. Appl Energy 2021;281:116019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2020.116019.
- [29] Craver JK, Boldt JK, Lopez RG. Comparison of supplemental lighting provided by highpressure sodium lamps or light-emitting diodes for the propagation and finishing of bedding plants in a commercial greenhouse. HortScience 2019;54:52–9. https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI13471-18.
- [30] Singh D, Basu C, Meinhardt-Wollweber M, Roth B. LEDs for energy efficient greenhouse lighting 2015. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.04.117.
- [31] Nelson J, Bugbee B. Supplemental greenhouse lighting: Return on Investment for LED and HPS fixtures. Controlled Environments 2013.
- [32] Duong Tan N, Thanh Hoang T, Ba Nam N. LEDs and Their Potential in Somatic Embryogenesis of Panax vietnamensis Ha et Grushv 2017:27–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-5807-3_14.
- [33] Lin D, Zhang L, Xia X. Model predictive control of a Venlo-type greenhouse system considering electrical energy, water and carbon dioxide consumption. Appl Energy 2021;298:117163. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2021.117163.
- [34] Morrow RC. LED Lighting in Horticulture. HortScience 2008;43:1947–50. https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI.43.7.1947.

- [35] Runkle ES, Heins RD. Specific functions of red, far red, and blue light in flowering and stem extension of long-day plants. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 2001;126:275–82. https://doi.org/10.21273/JASHS.126.3.275.
- [36] Kigel J, Cosgrove DJ. Photoinhibition of Stem Elongation by Blue and Red Light : Effects on Hydraulic and Cell Wall Properties. Plant Physiol 1991;95:1049. https://doi.org/10.1104/PP.95.4.1049.
- [37] Cosgrove DJ. Rapid Suppression of Growth by Blue Light: OCCURRENCE, TIME COURSE, AND GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS 1. Plant Physiol 1981;67:584. https://doi.org/10.1104/PP.67.3.584.
- [38] Guo X, Hao X, Khosla S, Kumar KGS, Cao R, Bennett N. Effect of LED interlighting combined with overhead HPS light on fruit yield and quality of year-round sweet pepper in commercial greenhouse. Acta Hortic 2016;1134:71–8. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2016.1134.10.
- [39] Joshi NC, Ratner K, Eidelman O, Bednarczyk D, Zur N, Many Y, et al. Effects of daytime intra-canopy LED illumination on photosynthesis and productivity of bell pepper grown in protected cultivation. Sci Hortic 2019;250:81–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCIENTA.2019.02.039.
- [40] Garcia C, Lopez RG. Supplemental radiation quality influences cucumber, tomato, and pepper transplant growth and development. HortScience 2020;55:804–11. https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI14820-20.
- [41] Vadiee A, Martin V. Energy management strategies for commercial greenhouses. Appl Energy 2014;114:880–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2013.08.089.
- [42] Brumfield R. Dealing with Rising Energy Costs 2007.
- [43] van Iersel MW, Gianino D. An adaptive control approach for light-emitting diode lights can reduce the energy costs of supplemental lighting in greenhouses. HortScience 2017;52:72–7. https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI11385-16.
- [44] Nair LG, Agrawal K, Verma P. An overview of sustainable approaches for bioenergy production from agro-industrial wastes. Energy Nexus 2022;6:100086. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEXUS.2022.100086.
- [45] Kowalczyk K, Olewnicki D, Mirgos M, Gajc-Wolska J. Comparison of selected costs in greenhouse cucumber production with LED and HPS supplemental assimilation lighting. Agronomy 2020;10. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10091342.
- [46] Kumar KGS, Hao X, Khosla S, Guo X, Bennett N. Comparison of HPS lighting and hybrid lighting with top HPS and intra-canopy LED lighting for high-wire minicucumber production. Acta Hortic 2016;1134:111–7. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2016.1134.15.

- [47] Roberts WJ, Emeritus P. Glazing Materials, Structural Design, and Other Factors Affecting Light Transmission in Greenhouses. 1998.
- [48] Torres AP, Lopez RG, Floriculture P. Measuring Daily Light Integral in a Greenhouse Commercial Greenhouse Production Purdue extension What Is Light and Why Is It Important? 2012.
- [49] Vries FWTP de., Jansen DM, Berge HFM ten, Bakema A. Simulation of ecophysiological processes of growth in several annual crops 1989:271.
- [50] Dorais M. The Use of Supplemental Lighting for Vegetable Crop Production: Light Intensity, Crop Response, Nutrition, Crop Management, Cultural Practices. 2003.
- [51] Dorais M, Carpentier R, Yelle S, Gosselin A. Adaptability of tomato and pepper leaves to changes in photoperiod: Effects on the composition and function of the thylakoid membrane. Physiol Plant 1995;94:692–700. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1399-3054.1995.TB00986.X.
- [52] Demers DA, Dorais M, Wien CH, Gosselin A. Effects of supplemental light duration on greenhouse tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum Mill.) plants and fruit yields. Sci Hortic 1998;74:295–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4238(98)00097-1.
- [53] Lbhí R, Stadler C. "Effects of lighting time and lighting source on growth, yield and quality of greenhouse sweet pepper" FINAL REPORT 2011.
- [54] Hao X, Zhang Y, Guo X, Little C, Zheng J. Dynamic temperature control strategy with a temperature drop improves responses of greenhouse tomatoes and sweet peppers to long photoperiods of supplemental lighting and saves energy. Acta Hortic 2018;1227:291–8. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2018.1227.35.
- [55] Global Adjustment Class A Eligibility n.d. https://www.ieso.ca/en/Sector-Participants/Settlements/Global-Adjustment-Class-A-Eligibility (accessed December 27, 2021).
- [56] Ontario farm financial analysis data Open Government Portal n.d. https://open.canada.ca/data/en/dataset/92bf10db-2a29-4ad4-91b5-29b6c2146798 (accessed September 4, 2022).

CHAPTER III THE SUBSTANTIAL IMPACT OF THE GREENHOUSE SECTOR ON THE ONTARIO ELECTRICITY GRID

Lysandra Naom¹, Lindsay Miller¹, Rupp Carriveau^{1*}

¹Environmental Energy Institute, University of Windsor

1. INTRODUCTION

The technologically advanced greenhouse sector in Canada is led by the province of Ontario, representing 71% of the country's vegetable production [1]. There are concerns surrounding the ability for the Ontario's electricity sector to meet the growing agriculture demand. The electricity consumption and demand of the greenhouse industry depend on two major factors: sector expansion and technology adaptation. The volatility of the sector is influenced by variations in food demand, production costs, market pricing, and labour [2]. Due to these changes, it is often difficult to accurately forecast the industry growth corresponding electricity needs. For the electricity grid to accurately plan for the sector growth, it is crucial to understand the implications of the sectors expansion and technology adaptation.

As the harvested area increases, the electricity consumption naturally follows. The Ontario vegetable greenhouse industry expanding its harvesting area by 18% from 2016 to 2020, averaging at 4.5% per year [1]. Based on a 2021 Independent Electricity Systems Operator (IESO) study, the agriculture sector is expected to continue to expand at a rate of approximately 4% per year [3]. Although this gives a relatively consistent idea of sector area expansion, predicting the impact on the electrical grid is challenging when the rate of technology adaptation of greenhouses is unknown.

Technology adoption in the greenhouse space provides many benefits. Automation in the space includes climate control systems, drip irrigation systems, robotic systems, and supplemental lighting systems. Climate control systems allow for crops to grow in an optimal environment. These sensor driven systems monitor temperature levels, CO₂, humidity, climate screens, lighting levels, and more [4]. Drip irrigation systems allow for water to reach the plant at the root leading to better quality produce, reduced water waste, and labour savings [5]. Robotic systems such as spray systems and packaging lines allow for reduced labour cost, higher efficiency, and consistency [6]. Supplemental lighting systems such as High-Pressure Sodium (HPS) and Light Emitting Diode (LED) lights help increase crop yield and allow for year-round production [7]. Overall, technology enhances production and contributes to a resilient greenhouse system.

Although technology provides many benefits, the adoption of it often comes with a change in electricity consumption. Relative to the supplemental lighting systems, climate control systems, drip irrigation systems, and robotic systems consume minimal electricity, especially when the energy, labour, and water savings from these systems are considered [8,9]. On the other hand, supplemental lighting systems lead to a substantial increase in electricity consumption [10]. HPS and LEDs are the two common types of lighting systems implemented in greenhouses [11]. LED systems provide substantial electricity savings, however they increase heat energy requirement as they emit less heat than the traditional HPS [12,13]. The electricity grid in this case sees some relief but it should be noted that the energy demand shifts to other resources such as natural gas and fossil fuels as most greenhouses use gas powered boilers to heat their greenhouses [14]. Overall, this leaves the question of why is supplemental lighting needed and how extensively can it impact Ontario's demand?

With global food insecurity rising there has been a need for greenhouses to increase their crop yield [15–17]. In Ontario, the seasonal changes do not allow for considerable yearround crop growth without supplemental lighting, especially in the months with minimal sunlight [18–21]. This has created an expectation that vegetable greenhouses will be shifting to supplemental lighting and ultimately has led to the prediction of increased electricity usage from the industry [22]. Prior to 2018, Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers (OGVG) did not track supplemental lighting due to minimal number of installations. Based on OGVG data, the adoption of supplemental lighting in 2018 and 2019 in the sector was 9%. In 2021, OGVG reported that 19% of the Ontario greenhouse vegetable sector utilize lighting. For a greenhouse, lighting can account for up to 30% of a greenhouse's operational costs [23]. Despite this, the number of greenhouses installing supplemental lights in Ontario increases each year due to consumer demand and overall advantages. While the addition of supplemental lighting will help with crop yield and clearly provides substantial value to the sector, this creates additional pressure onto local distribution systems and provincial electrical generation. When considering supplemental lighting, the question of electricity availability is now a more common issue.

For adequate electricity availability, sector expansion needs to be projected accurately for grid planning purposes. In a 2019 IESO Greenhouse Energy Profile Study, it was predicted that the entire Ontario greenhouse industry would have an electricity consumption of 3.9 TWh in 2024 [24]. In that same report, the vegetable sector was predicted to increase to 1.81 TWh in 2024, representing almost half of greenhouse electricity consumption. In preparation for the electricity increases, \$1 billion dollars have been invested in Ontario transmission projects [25]. However, these upgrades will take up to 8 years to complete and may not even be able to meet these new demands due to rapid technology adaptation rates. This emphasizes the need for current lighting projections for Ontario and the corresponding electricity demand and consumption.

Although distribution expansions have been made to match the potential agricultural electricity increases, the impacts to the Ontario electricity grid with sector expansions and lighting adaptations are largely underexplored. To achieve a world class greenhouse industry, the province requires the availability of electricity to support it. The purpose of this study is to reflect the electricity implications of HPS and LED lights to the Ontario vegetable greenhouse sector. This will be done by quantifying the electricity the current sector uses and applying both sector expansion and lighting adaptation trends until only 25% of the sector remains unlit with a combination of scenarios. Ultimately, these results can be used for sector expansion and lighting adaptation estimations and grid planning.

2. METHOD

To project the potential consumption of the Ontario vegetable greenhouse industry, an analysis of the current sector, lighting trends, and current electrical load has been conducted. First, the current state of the Ontario greenhouse vegetable was analyzed including total acres, unlit acres, and lit acres split by lighting type for cucumbers, tomatoes, and peppers. Next, the required amount of supplemental lighting was found based on natural sunlight trends in the greenhouse hubs Kingsville, ON and Leamington, ON. From here, HPS and LED lighting strategies were analyzed from research data and averaged for projection purposes. Total electrical requirements for both unlit and lit greenhouses were then determined. Lastly, the current greenhouse sector consumption was estimated as a baseline for the projections. The grid electrical demands and consumption of cucumber, tomato, and pepper greenhouses turning on their light in Ontario will be projected in various scenarios of lighting technology breakdown and strength.

2.1. ONTARIO GREENHOUSE VEGETABLE SECTOR OVERVIEW

Based on the 2021 Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers (OGVG) data, the number of total acres, unlit acres, and lit acres can be found in Table III-1. The lit acres are also split up by number of HPS and LED acres.

	ACRES	UNLIT ACRES	LIT ACRES	HPS ACRES	LED ACRES
CUCUMBERS	975	614	361	266	95
PEPPERS	1365	1353	12	0	12
TOMATOES	1211	907	304	215	89
TOTAL	3551	2874	677	481	196

Table III-1: Ontario Greenhouse Breakdown

The unlit versus lit data is modelled in Figure III-1. This demonstrates that many vegetable greenhouses remain largely unlit and have the potential to install supplemental lighting.

2021 ONTARIO VEGETABLE GREENHOUSE SECTOR UNLIT VS. LIT



Figure III-1: 2021 Ontario Vegetable Greenhouses Unlit and Lit Acres

Breaking down these statistics even further, the acres are split by type and lighting status in Figure III-2. This figure demonstrates that lighting peppers in the industry is rare, over half the cucumber acres are lit, and one-third of tomato acres are lit as well.



2021 ONTARIO VEGETABLE GREENHOUSE LIGHTING STATUS

Figure III-2: 2021 Ontario Vegetable Greenhouse Lighting Status by Crop Type

2.2. LIGHTING STRATEGIES

To model the common lighting strategies for greenhouses, research was done on common lighting hours and fixtures for cucumbers, tomatoes, and peppers. The amount of natural lighting the crop receives in the greenhouse and the amount that is ideal for the crop were quantified. Once quantified, the amount of supplemental lighting that is needed was found. From here, an average lighting intensity was chosen as well as an average HPS and LED fixture. Once chosen, the number of lighting hours and fixtures needed to satisfy this can be approximated which then contributes to electrical projections.

2.3. DAILY LIGHT INTEGRAL

The daily light integral (DLI) is the total amount of light that a plant receives in one day, often measured in mol·m⁻²·d⁻¹ or moles per day [26]. The amount of supplemental lighting DLI needed is found by the difference of natural DLI and the target crop DLI. The target DLI often varies by crop and is determined by researchers and crop specialists. The target DLI is between 20 to 35 mol·m⁻²·d⁻¹ for cucumbers, 20 to 50 mol·m⁻²·d⁻¹ for tomatoes, and 25 to 50 mol·m⁻²·d⁻¹ for peppers are between [27]. The natural DLI comes from the sunlight. For consistency, a point between the greenhouse hubs in Ontario: Kingsville and Leamington will be chosen and used for all acres across Ontario. Using SunTrackers DLI calculator, at longitude and latitude 42.05, -82.67, the natural DLI in the area as shown in Figure #3 [28]. Based on commercial greenhouse transmissivity, about 70% of natural light makes its way to the crop, this is shown as natural greenhouse DLI in Figure III-3 [29].



Figure III-3: Natural DLI in Ontario

2.4. NUMBER OF FIXTURES

Lighting intensity, also known as the photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) is the light measured over an area often measured in μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ [30,31]. To determine the supplemental lighting fixtures needed, light intensity needs to be chosen. Lighting intensity is commonly between 120-200 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ for greenhouse vegetables [32,33]. For modelling purposes, an average lighting intensity of 160 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ will be assumed for both HPS and LED designs [34].

2.5. LIGHTING HOURS

Using the supplemental lighting DLI and PPFD are used to find the lighting hours per day as indicated in Equation III-1 [35].

$$Lighting Hours (hr/day) = \frac{Supplemental Lighting DLI(\frac{mol}{m^2d^{-1}})}{PPFD(\frac{umol}{m^2s^1})*(3600\frac{s}{hr})*(1x106\frac{mol}{umol})}$$
(Equation III-1)

Due to crop photoperiod restrictions, ideally the maximum hours the crop should be lit for is a 20-hr period [36]. Although there are studies that explore 24-hr lighting, this lighting strategy will not be considered for electricity projection ease [33,37]. Based on this restriction the average hours lit per day for each month can be found in Figure III-4.



Figure III-4: Average Lighting Hours per Day

The total lit hours per month can be found in Figure III-5.



Figure III-5: Total Lit Hours per Month

2.6. LIGHTING ELECTRICAL CONSUMPTION

To determine the electricity consumption corresponding to the supplemental lighting, two HPS and one LED fixtures were chosen. Ultimately, the chosen fixtures will provide an approximate projection. Commonly, HPS lights are often installed with power 600W and 1000W [38–42]. The 600W HPS fixtures are used for older greenhouses that were designed shorter than new greenhouses to prevent the burning of crops. For LEDs, the fixture power used is 200W [39]. However, it should be noted with supplemental lighting becoming more common, a wide variety of HPS and LED fixtures are available on the market and in practice. In this case, the fixture specifications shown in Table III-2 were used for the projections [43–45].

Table III-2: Fixture Specifications

Fixture Name	Туре	Power (W)	Light Output (µmol/s)
Agrolux - ALF1000	HPS	1000	2100
Agrolux - ALF600	HPS	600	1190
Philips GreenPower LED	LED	200	550
TLL			

To calculate the number of fixtures required to meet the lighting targets, Equation III-2 was used.

Number of Fixtures =
$$\frac{\text{Light Output }(\mu mol/s)}{PPFD\left(\frac{umol}{m^2s^1}\right)} * \text{Lighting Area}(m^2)$$
 (Equation III-2)

To calculate the total electricity demand and consumption from these fixtures, Equation III-3 and Equation III-4 were used.

> Electricity Demand (W) = Number of Fixtures * Power (W) + Base Load (W) (Equation III-3)

```
Electricity Consumption (Wh) = (Electricity Demand + Base Load)(W) *
Lit Hours (h) (Equation III-4)
```

These parameters will be used to calculate the electrical capacity of the greenhouse sector.

2.7. ELECTRICAL GRID MODELLING

To apply this data modelling to the electricity grid, a few scenarios will be considered. An electricity comparison will be shown of an unlit, HPS lit, and LED lit acre. Based on the study in Chapter II, it can be approximated that the unlit crop has an electricity demand of ~12 kW/Acre and electricity consumption of ~50,000 kWh/Acre-yr. This will be used as the load for all acres without lighting and as the base load for the lit crops. For lit crops, the unlit electricity demand will be added to the electricity demand from the fixtures. The demand comparison of unlit, HPS, and LED acres can be found in Figure III-6.



Figure III-6: Electrical Demand by Type (kW/Acre)

To demonstrate the electrical demand of the vegetable greenhouse industry on the electricity grid, an average of the HPS 600W and 1000W electrical demand will be used as the HPS acre, and the LED and unlit acre demands will be taken as is. The electrical demand based on the 2021 greenhouse sector can be shown in Figure III-7.



2021 ELECTRICAL DEMAND (MW)

Figure III-7: 2021 Greenhouse Vegetable Electrical Demand (MW)

The electrical consumption based on the 2021 greenhouse sector can be shown in Figure III- 8.



2021 ELECTRICAL CONSUMPTION (TWH)

Figure III-8: 2021 Greenhouse Vegetable Electrical Consumption (TWh)

Overall, based on the approximations, the 2021 greenhouse vegetable sector has a total demand of 239 MW and a consumption of 1.13 TWh.

2.8. ELECTRICAL GRID PROJECTIONS

First, to model the impact of lighting intensity on demand and consumption, the status will be modelled with an increase of light intensity by 25%, at 200 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹, and a decrease of light intensity by 25%, at 120 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ shown as scenario #1.1 and scenario #1.2 respectively.

Next, the sector will be modelled with three additional supplemental lighting combinations. One will demonstrate the consumption if the lit greenhouses are divided evenly between HPS and LEDs. The second will demonstrate the consumption if all greenhouses that add lighting after 2021 are LEDs. The third will demonstrate the consumption if, by 2030 all greenhouses with lighting have LEDs. These lighting combinations will be analyzed with the current sector acreage as well as with a sector projection. The sector will be analyzed with and without harvesting area growth projections. For sector growth projections, the average harvesting area increase will be assumed as 4.5% per year [1]. For sector lighting projections, it was assumed that by 2030, 75% of the sector will use lighting. The unlit sector will be predicted by scaling the current makeup of unlit cucumbers, tomatoes, and peppers and applying that ratio to the 25% of unlit acres. The assumption is that only 5% of cucumbers, 12% of peppers, and 8% of tomatoes remain unlit. Based on these projections, the total acreage would be 5277 acres with 3957 acres using lighting. The breakdown by crop can be found in Figure III-9.



ONTARIO GREENHOUSE SECTOR PROJECTION LIGHTING STATUS

Figure III-9: Lighting Status Projections

A summary of the scenarios can be found in Table III-3.

	Lighting Splits	Lighting Intensity	Sector Projection
Scenario #1.1	Current Status	120 μ mol m ⁻² s ⁻¹	No
Scenario #1.2	Current Status	200 μ mol m ⁻² s ⁻¹	No
Scenario #2.1	50% HPS/50% LEDs	160 µmol m ⁻² s ⁻¹	No
Scenario #2.2	2021 HPS/2022+ LEDs	160 µmol m ⁻² s ⁻¹	No
Scenario #2.3	100% LEDs	160 µmol m ⁻² s ⁻¹	No
Scenario #3.1	50% HPS/50% LEDs	160 µmol m ⁻² s ⁻¹	Yes
Scenario #3.2	2021 HPS/2022+ LEDs	160 μ mol m ⁻² s ⁻¹	Yes
Scenario #3.3	100% LEDs	160 µmol m ⁻² s ⁻¹	Yes

Table III-3: Summary of Scenarios

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The following sections detail the modelling results including lighting intensity (Section 3.1), lighting combinations on the current sector (Section 3.2), and lighting combinations on the projected sector (Section 3.3).

3.1. LIGHTING INTENSITY RESULTS

The lighting intensity demand (MW) and consumption (TWh) results for scenario #1.1 and #1.2 can be found in Table III-4 with the breakdown of the results shown in Figure III-10 and III-11. By normalizing the current sector, a demand and consumption multiplier for these scenarios is shown in Figure III-12.

Table III-4: Lighting Intensity Results

	Demand (MW)	Consumption (TWh)
Current Sector	239	1.13
Scenario #1.1	192	0.94
Scenario #1.2	291	1.32

ONTARIO GREENHOUSE SECTOR DEMAND BY TYPE



Figure III-10: Demand by Type

ONTARIO GREENHOUSE SECTOR CONSUMPTION BY TYPE



Figure III-11: Consumption by Type



Figure III-12: Electricity Demand and Consumption Lighting Intensity Projections

As shown in scenarios #1.1 and #1.2, by decreasing or increasing the average lighting intensity used in the province by 25%, this can decrease or increase the current sectors demand and consumption. In this case, the fluctuation of lighting intensity can vary the demand by ~50 MW. Displayed in Figure III-12, this means the sectors demand can be significantly impacted by ~20% of the current electricity demand. For every 1% decrease or increase in lighting intensity on the current sector, there is approximately a correlated 0.74% impact on the grids demand. By decreasing or increase the current sectors consumption by 0.19 TWh. The sectors consumption is influenced by 17%. This draws the conclusion that for every 1% decrease or increase in lighting intensity a correlated 0.68% impact on the grids consumption.

In Figures III-10 and III-11, it is displayed that regardless of lighting type, the impact of lighting intensity influences the electrical trends of both HPS and LED almost identically. These results prove that regardless of whether the lighting used is HPS or LED, lighting intensity has a primary impact on the electricity consumption. Ultimately, this means that the average lighting intensity of the sector can have an influential role on the electricity grid. This backs the importance of industry research when comparing lighting intensity and yield. If increased lighting intensity past a certain point does not provide a significant increase in yield and creates a strained impact on the electricity grid, there could be the potential to deny the connection request due to the inefficiency. The result from this

modelling presents the future opportunity for electrical grid and utility regulation on grid connection applications based on the installed lighting intensity.

3.2. LIGHTING COMBINATIONS – CURRENT SECTOR

Based on the lighting scenarios, the demand (MW) and consumption (TWh) for scenarios #2.1, #2.2, and #2.3 can be found in Table III-5. By normalizing the current sector, a demand and consumption multiplier for these scenarios is shown in Figure III-13.

	Demand (MW)	Consumption (TWh)
Current Sector	239	1.13
Scenario #2.1	935	3.78
Scenario #2.2	842	3.42
Scenario #2.3	803	3.28

Table III-5: Current Sector Lighting Split Results

ONTARIO GREENHOUSE PROJECTION DEMAND AND CONSUMPTION MULTIPLIER



Figure III-13: Current Sector Electricity Demand and Consumption Multiplier

As shown in the projection in Figure III-13, regardless of what the lighting split is, if the sector becomes 75% lit, the electrical grid demand and consumption will increase by 3x in comparison to the 2021 sector. The modelling shows that the addition of lighting can lead the greenhouse vegetable sector in Ontario to consume over 3 TWh/year with demands ranging between 800 to 950 MW. However, technology does play a key role in reducing

demand. If the entire sector used LEDs, the demand could be decreased by 130 MW and consumption by 0.5 TWh per year relative to a sector that is equally split by HPS and LEDs.

Although LED lighting technology can provide some significant relief to the grid, if the majority of the sector turned on lights, the demand and consumption would triple what it was in 2021. In comparison to the 2019 IESO Greenhouse Energy Profile Study, the projected consumption of the entire greenhouse industry could end up being the size of the vegetable sector alone. The sector was predicted to increase to 1.81 TWh in 2024 but based on this modelling it can easily be doubled if more greenhouses are given the approval to power on lights.

3.3. LIGHTING SPLITS – PROJECTED SECTOR

Based on the lighting split scenario and sector expansion projections, the demand (MW) and consumption (TWh) for scenarios #3.1, #3.2, and #3.3 can be found in Table III-6. By normalizing the current sector, a demand and consumption multiplier for these scenarios is shown in Figure III-14.

	Total Demand (MW)	Total Consumption (TWh)
Current Sector	239	1.13
Scenario #3.1	1157	4.73
Scenario #3.2	1034	4.26
Scenario #3.3	982	4.05

Table III-6: Projected Sector Lighting Split Results



Figure III-14: Projected Sector Electricity Demand and Consumption Multiplier

As shown in Figure III-14, in comparison to scenarios #2.1, #2.2, and #2.3, the sectors projection adds around 200 MW in demand and just under 1 TWh/year. With projections and majority of the sector under lighting, the electricity grid could face \sim 4.4x an increase in demand and \sim 4x increase in consumption compared to the sector in 2021.

An interesting outcome is that the projected sector with an addition of 1726 acres and a lit sector operating LEDS as shown in scenario #3.3, closely resembles scenario #2.1. This emphasizes that although these projections with lighting show a stark contrast to the current consumption and demand, adapting electrically efficient technologies are beneficial to optimizing electricity and allowing more acres to add supplemental lighting.

4. CONCLUSION

Continued growth of the greenhouse vegetable sector is essential to ensure food security and consumer demands are met. Supplemental lighting and harvesting area expansion allows for more yield of produce but also increases the need for electricity availability. The analysis of the Ontario greenhouse vegetable sector turning towards lighting and expansion provides data driven projections on the demands the electricity grid will face. By exploring lighting intensities, lighting splits, and expansion projections, electricity operators and policy makers globally can better focus on key influences on power consumption. As more greenhouses look to turn on lights in their greenhouse, the understanding and optimizing of potential loads are critical for both the electricity and greenhouse sector. Based on the results of this study, the following conclusions can be made on lighting intensity, electricity demand, electricity consumption, grid impact, and growth projections of a majority lit vegetable greenhouse sector in Ontario.

When compared to the electricity consumption and demand of an average lighting intensity of 160 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹, if the 2021 vegetable sector had:

- 1. A decrease or increase in lighting intensity by 25%, the sectors demand would correspondingly decrease or increase by around 50 MW.
- 2. A decrease or increase of 1% in lighting intensity, a correlated 0.74% decrease or increase would occur to demand.
- 3. A decrease or increase in lighting intensity by 25%, the sectors demand would correspondingly decrease or increase by 0.19 TWh per year.
- 4. A decrease or increase of 1% in lighting intensity, a correlated 0.68% decrease or increase would occur to yearly consumption.

When compared to the 2021 Ontario greenhouse vegetable sector with 19% lighting, increasing the sectors lighting to 75% resulted in:

- 1. An electrical grid demand and consumption three folds the one approximated in 2021.
- 2. A demand ranging between 800-950 MW and an annual consumption of over 3 TWh per year.
- 3. A savings of 130 MW and 0.15 TWh per year if the sector was fully LEDs in comparison to a HPS and LED split.

When compared to the 2021 Ontario greenhouse vegetable sector, increasing the sectors lighting to 75% and the harvesting area by 1.5x resulted in:

- 1. An electrical grid demand and consumption four times the one approximated in 2021.
- 2. A demand around 1000 MW and an annual consumption of over 4 TWh per year.

Though this study is based on Ontario data, the influence of lighting intensity, lighting adaptation rates, and projection rates can be broadly applied. The specific electrical demand and consumption values are Ontario based. This application of lighting adaptation and harvesting area growth can be used as a projection tool and guide for Ontario's greenhouse sector and others.

REFERENCES

- [1] Statistical Overview of the Canadian Greenhouse Vegetable Industry, 2020 agriculture.canada.ca n.d. https://agriculture.canada.ca/en/canadas-agriculturesectors/horticulture/statistical-overview-canadian-greenhouse-vegetable-industry-2020#har (accessed November 4, 2022).
- [2] LaPlante G, Andrekovic S, Young RG, Kelly JM, Bennett N, Currie EJ, et al. Canadian Greenhouse Operations and Their Potential to Enhance Domestic Food Security. Agronomy 2021;11:1229. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11061229.
- [3] IESO 2021 Annual Planning Outlook Summary and Commentary | Power Advisory LLC n.d. https://www.poweradvisoryllc.com/reports/ieso-2021-annual-planningoutlook-summary-and-commentary (accessed July 18, 2022).
- [4] Karanisa T, Achour Y, Ouammi A, Sayadi S. Smart greenhouses as the path towards precision agriculture in the food-energy and water nexus: case study of Qatar. Environment Systems and Decisions 2022 42:4 2022;42:521–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10669-022-09862-2.
- [5] Shock CC. Drip Irrigation: An Introduction. 2014.
- [6] Bansal H, Pyari G, Roy S, Kulkarni AA, S CB, Gowda S TC, et al. Applications of Automation and Robotics in Agriculture Industries; A Review n.d. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/748/1/012002.
- Kozai T, Fujiwara K, Runkle ES, editors. LED Lighting for Urban Agriculture.
 Singapore: Springer Singapore; 2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-1848-0.
- [8] Kittas C, Bartzanas T. Greenhouse Climate Control and Energy Use. 2013.
- [9] Zhou M, Cai F, Uenishi M, Chen J. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science You may also like Performance monitoring and verification of a groundwater source heat pump heating system in a greenhouse Research on Energy Saving greenhouse based on Sunlight Environment n.d. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/514/3/032042.
- [10] Badji A, Benseddik A, Bensaha H, Boukhelifa A, Hasrane I. Design, technology, and management of greenhouse: A review. J Clean Prod 2022;373:133753. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2022.133753.
- [11] Kuijpers WJP, Katzin D, van Mourik S, Antunes DJ, Hemming S, van de Molengraft MJG. Lighting systems and strategies compared in an optimally controlled greenhouse. Biosyst Eng 2021;202:195–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2020.12.006.

- Singh D, Basu C, Meinhardt-Wollweber M, Roth B. LEDs for energy efficient greenhouse lighting. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2015;49:139–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.04.117.
- [13] Tasnim SH, Nauta A, Lubitz D, Han J. Performance Evaluation of a Commercial Greenhouse in Canada Using Dehumidification Technologies and Led Lighting: A Modeling Study. SSRN Electronic Journal 2022. https://doi.org/10.2139/SSRN.4139225.
- Katzin D, Marcelis LFM, van Mourik S. Energy savings in greenhouses by transition from high-pressure sodium to LED lighting. Appl Energy 2021;281:116019. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2020.116019.
- [15] da Silva Dias JC. Impact of improved vegetable cultivars in overcoming food insecurity. Euphytica 2010;176:125–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-010-0237-5.
- [16] Weiler AM, McLaughlin J, Cole DC. Food Security at Whose Expense? A Critique of the Canadian Temporary Farm Labour Migration Regime and Proposals for Change. International Migration 2017;55:48–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/IMIG.12342.
- [17] Turnbull O, Homer M, Ensaff H. Food insecurity: Its prevalence and relationship to fruit and vegetable consumption. Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics 2021;34:849–57. https://doi.org/10.1111/JHN.12866.
- [18] Jones-Baumgardt C, Llewellyn D, Zheng Y. Different Microgreen Genotypes Have Unique Growth and Yield Responses to Intensity of Supplemental PAR from Lightemitting Diodes during Winter Greenhouse Production in Southern Ontario, Canada. HortScience 2020;55:156–63. https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI14478-19.
- [19] Hao X, Papadopoulos AP. Effects of supplemental lighting and cover materials on growth, photosynthesis, biomass partitioning, early yield and quality of greenhouse cucumber. Sci Hortic 1999;80:1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4238(98)00217-9.
- [20] Snow B, Lubitz W, Tasnim S, Graham T, Llewellyn D, Al-Daoud F. Experimental Measurements Of Light Emissions From Ontario Greenhouses Using Supplemental Lighting At Night. Canada (Tor) 2021.
- [21] Deram P. Light-emitting-diode (LED) Lighting For Greenhouse Tomato Production. McGill University, 2013.
- [22] Kubota C, Kroggel M, Both AJ, Burr JF, Whalen M. Does supplemental lighting make sense for my crop? – empirical evaluations. Acta Hortic 2016:403–12. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2016.1134.52.

- [23] Watson RT, Boudreau MC, van Iersel MW. Simulation of greenhouse energy use: an application of energy informatics. Energy Informatics 2018;1:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/S42162-018-0005-7/TABLES/1.
- [24] Independent Electricity System Operator. Greenhouse Energy Profile Study. 2018.
- [25] Ontario announces \$1B electricity transmission expansion to support Windsor-Essex battery plant, greenhouses | CBC News. CBC 2022.
- [26] Photoperiod, light intensity, and daily light integral Produce Grower n.d. https://www.producegrower.com/article/photoperiod-light-intensity-and-dailylight-integral/ (accessed November 10, 2022).
- [27] Yelton M, Holley J, Poel B, Schuster R. LED Growers' Guide for VINE CROPS LEARN HOW TO GROW WITH LEDs The Industry's Only How-To Guide for Professional LED Growers 2017. www.lumigrow.com (accessed November 10, 2022).
- [28] DLI Calculator n.d. https://dli.suntrackertech.com/ (accessed November 10, 2022).
- [29] Runkle E. How Much Supplemental Lighting Do You Need? Greenhouse Product News n.d. https://gpnmag.com/article/how-much-supplemental-lighting-do-youneed/ (accessed November 10, 2022).
- [30] How Light Intensity is Measured | EYE Hortilux n.d. https://eyehortilux.com/growlighting-guide/measuring-light-for-plant-growth/how-light-intensity-is-measured/ (accessed November 10, 2022).
- [31] Friesen P. FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS At what light intensity should I grow my plants? BioChambers 2022.
- [32] Cui J, Song S, Yu J, Liu H. Effect of daily light integral on cucumber plug seedlings in artificial light plant factory. Horticulturae 2021;7. https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae7060139.
- [33] Lanoue J, Zheng J, Little C, Grodzinski B, Hao X. Continuous Light Does Not Compromise Growth and Yield in Mini-Cucumber Greenhouse Production with Supplemental LED Light. Plants 2021;10:378. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10020378.
- [34] Appolloni E, Orsini F, Pennisi G, Durany XG, Paucek I, Gianquinto G. Supplemental LED Lighting Effectively Enhances the Yield and Quality of Greenhouse Truss Tomato Production: Results of a Meta-Analysis. Front Plant Sci 2021;12:596927. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPLS.2021.596927.
- [35] Mattson N. How Many Light Fixtures Do I Need? 2017.

- [36] Demers DA, Dorais M, Wien CH, Gosselin A. Effects of supplemental light duration on greenhouse tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum Mill.) plants and fruit yields. Sci Hortic 1998;74:295–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4238(98)00097-1.
- [37] Lanoue J, Zheng J, Little C, Thibodeau A, Grodzinski B, Hao X. Alternating Red and Blue Light-Emitting Diodes Allows for Injury-Free Tomato Production With Continuous Lighting. Front Plant Sci 2019;10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.01114.
- [38] Kumar KGS, Hao X, Khosla S, Guo X, Bennett N. Comparison of HPS lighting and hybrid lighting with top HPS and intra-canopy LED lighting for high-wire minicucumber production. Acta Hortic 2016;1134:111–7. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2016.1134.15.
- [39] Kowalczyk K, Olewnicki D, Mirgos M, Gajc-Wolska J. Comparison of Selected Costs in Greenhouse Cucumber Production with LED and HPS Supplemental Assimilation Lighting. Agronomy 2020;10:1342. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10091342.
- [40] Hao X, Little C, Zheng JM, Cao R. Far-red LEDs improve fruit production in greenhouse tomato grown under high-pressure sodium lighting. Acta Hortic 2016;1134:95–102. https://doi.org/10.17660/ACTAHORTIC.2016.1134.13.
- [41] Zhang H, Burr J, Zhao F. A comparative life cycle assessment (LCA) of lighting technologies for greenhouse crop production. J Clean Prod 2017;140:705–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2016.01.014.
- [42] Dyśko J, Kaniszewski S. Effects of LED and HPS lighting on the growth, seedling morphology and yield of greenhouse tomatoes and cucumbers. Horticultural Science 2021;48 (2021):22–9. https://doi.org/10.17221/4/2020-HORTSCI.
- [43] AGROLUX ALF600 240-400V + Philips Bulb Complete 600W Grow Kit n.d. https://www.ecofarm.ca/products/agrolux-alf600-240-400v-philips-bulb-complete-600w-grow-kit (accessed November 10, 2022).
- [44] Agrolux ALF1000 347V Wide w/ 1000w DE HPS Philips Lamp | Indoor Growing Canada n.d. https://indoorgrowingcanada.com/products/agrolux-alf1000-347vwide-w-philips-lamp (accessed November 10, 2022).
- [45] Philips GreenPower LED toplighting linear system | Philips lighting n.d. https://www.lighting.philips.ca/products/horticulture/products/greenpower-ledtoplighting-linear-systems (accessed November 11, 2022).

CHAPTER IV MODELLING A FIVE GREENHOUSE NETWORK IN ONTARIO WITH DISTRIBUTED ENERGY RESOURCE DESIGNS

Lysandra Naom¹, Rupp Carriveau^{1*}, Lindsay Miller¹

¹Envrionmental Energy Institute, University of Windsor

1. INTRODUCTION

The commercial greenhouse vegetable industry represents a rapidly growing sector in Canada [1]. In 2019, Ontario represented 69% of the total production in Canada with the Windsor-Essex area accounting for 60% of the operations [1,2]. Greenhouses use several commodities including electricity to power the greenhouse, natural gas (NG) to heat, and water for heat and plant growth purposes [3–5]. These commodities are typically purchased from local utilities. In Canada, some locations operate for eight months opting to remain closed during peak utility pricing periods where use of supplemental lighting and heating demand would be required to sustain crop health and production [6,7]. However, many studies indicate greenhouses should pursue year-round local production to avoid future food shortages and provide self-sufficient food economies [2,8–13]. A barrier for many operations is the high costs and lack of electricity. To meet growing food demand, it is crucial to investigate the impact and availability of electricity that comes with the innovation of a year-round greenhouse sector.

A greenhouse's electricity consumption depends heavily on the crop type, greenhouse material, operational settings, and location [6]. Major energy consumption (electricity and heating) in a greenhouse consists of supplemental lighting, heating, fans, irrigation, and more [14,15]. For greenhouses who opt for year-round production, electricity demand from supplemental lights and heating demand is a priority in the winter months [16]. The addition of supplemental lighting can increase a greenhouses electricity demand and consumption by up to 27x and 15x respectively. With greenhouses operating in a concentrated area, the cumulative impacts of expansions and the adoption of energy intensive practices will create a strain on local electricity systems.

In 2019, the Independent Electricity Sector of Ontario (IESO) stated they expected a 180% increase in greenhouse electricity consumption in five years, projecting a 282% increased use of electricity in the vegetable sector [17]. In the Windsor-Essex and Chatham Kent area, utilities are expected to quadruple the amount of power supply in the next fifteen years to meet these greenhouse load demands [18]. Although utility power expansions are planned to meet the growth, they are time intensive, requiring greenhouses to investigate quicker solutions to meet the sectors current growing pace and electricity needs.

Distributed energy resources (DERs) offer nimble and scalable options to compensate for electric grid supply shortages. DERs provide greenhouses with the ability to self-generate their electricity, heat, and CO₂ depending on the system. DERs for greenhouses can include solar, wind, cogeneration, batteries, biomass, and geothermal [19,20]. Cogeneration is a common energy choice in the greenhouse industry as these systems take fuel input and output CO₂, electricity, and heat [16,21]. In an optimized system, the CO₂ can be used as food for the crop, the heat is used to warm the greenhouses instead of the traditional boiler, and electricity is used to power the growing process.

Due to the function of cogeneration systems, they are often implemented and studied in the greenhouse space [22]. In a European study, cogeneration systems for greenhouses were found to be a cost-effective solution especially in the Mediterranean countries [23,24]. A study in Greece found that cogeneration systems for cucumber and tomato greenhouses led to increased energy savings [16]. A study in Italy found that a NG cogeneration system used 55% less energy in a tomato greenhouse compared to the heat supply from NG and canola oil combustion. Cogeneration systems are also common in Dutch greenhouses, ranging from 0.5 MW to 5MW in size [25]. In Canadian greenhouses, natural gas (NG) is the common fuel used for meeting CO_2 and heating demands [26]. Overall, cogeneration systems considered a feasible energy generation choice in the greenhouse industry.

The purpose of this study is to evaluate how DER capacity can be optimized in the greenhouse sector when designed as a microgrid with collaborating, nearby facilities in Ontario. To do so, first a detailed electricity load analysis and profiling for five greenhouses will be completed. These greenhouses vary in size, crop, lighting, and growing cycle to capture the diversity of the sector. Following this analysis, the five greenhouses electrical load will be combined to create a five-grower microgrid network and a total load analysis will be generated. Using the software Homer Pro, cogeneration designs will initially be computed for the five greenhouses individually. Then, the same design will be completed for the five-grower network. After this analysis, the five DER designs from the individual greenhouses will be totaled and compared to the five-grower network to analyze the potential reduction on capital costs and total power capacity requirements.

2. METHOD

To establish a five-grower network, five greenhouses from the same area in southwestern Ontario were chosen. These vegetable greenhouses include cucumber, tomatoes, and pepper crop with various planting and lighting cycles to accurately capture the diverse sector. This network totals 124 acres with 74 acres under HPS lighting. To complete this study, first, an electrical analysis of the five greenhouses must be complete to show the range in demand and consumption for each month in the year. This will be done per acre to normalize the data and keep the greenhouses anonymous. After understanding the individual electrical loads, the five loads will be added together to create a five-grower network. Once the electrical load is analyzed, DER designs powered by cogeneration and battery can be modelled for the five greenhouses individually and the five-grower network. This is modelled through the number and sizing of the DERs, which includes electrical and thermal yields as well as fuel consumption. A CAPEX and OPEX analysis will detail the cogenerator and battery designs capital, operating and maintenance, fuel costs, and grid purchasing. Finally, the total results of the five greenhouses individually will be analyzed alongside the five-grower network to determine if a network is a feasible route to consider.

2.1. GREENHOUSE DETAILS

The five-grower network is composed of five greenhouses located in the Leamington, ON area. The crop type and use of supplemental lighting of these greenhouses can be found in Table IV-1.

Greenhouse	Сгор	Supplemental Lighting
1	Pepper	Unlit
2	Pepper	Unlit
3	Cucumbers & Tomatoes	HPS
4	Cucumbers & Tomatoes	HPS
5	Long English Cucumbers	HPS

Table IV-1: Five Grower Network

2.2. GREENHOUSE ELECTRICAL ANALYSIS

First, the five greenhouses are modelled by demand by acre as shown in Figure IV-1. The demand in this case is defined as the peak one-hour period in each month. For the unlit greenhouse loads, the demand reflects the base load which remains relatively consistent. For the lit greenhouse loads, supplemental lighting has a large impact on the overall demand of the greenhouse. This demand represents the greenhouses one hour load when they typically have all their HPS fixtures on. The demand of a lit greenhouse will increase in the winter months as more SL is needed to supplement the lack of natural sunlight for crop production whereas in the summer months natural sunlight satisfies the crops needs.



GREENHOUSE #1 - GREENHOUSE #5 DEMAND PER ACRE

Figure IV-1: Greenhouse Maximum Demand per Acre

The five greenhouses are modelled by greenhouse average hourly electricity consumption per acre in Figure IV-2. The unlit greenhouse loads remain consistent as there are no major electrical load fluctuations. For the lit greenhouses, as the summer months are approached, the supplemental lights are used less due to an increase in DLI as the average sun per day increases. Observing the lit greenhouses, the average hourly consumption allows the differences in lighting patterns and the impact of the natural sunlight to be noticed. For instance, greenhouse #5 has a heavier lighting period and use lights extensively for nine months to boost crop yield. However, even though lighting is used for nine months, it is notable that as the DLI increases, the average hourly electrical consumption mimics this. In comparison to greenhouse #3, greenhouse #5 has a heavier monthly lighting recipe per acre. Greenhouse #5 also contrasts greenhouse #4 as they light for 3 more months. Comparing the three greenhouses, a light, moderate, and heavy lighting scenario is modelled.



GREENHOUSE #1 - GREENHOUSE #5 AVERAGE HOURLY ELECTRICAL CONSUMPTION PER ACRE

Figure IV-2: Greenhouse Average Hourly Electrical Consumption per Acre

Lastly, the monthly total electrical consumption per acre is shown in Figure IV-3. This model mimics the pattern shown in Figure IV-2. As the sun periods increase, the need for SL decreases as there is a shorter SL period. This causes higher total electrical consumption for lit greenhouses to occur in the shorter daylight months and gradually decrease as the months near May-August.



GREENHOUSE #1 - GREENHOUSE #5 MONTHLY TOTAL ELECTRICAL CONSUMPTION PER ACRE

Figure IV-3: Greenhouse Monthly Total Electrical Consumption per Acre
These data points can be summarized in Table IV-2 where the maximum annual demand (kW/acre) and total annual electrical consumption (kWh/acre) are stated. The maximum annual demand is the maximum one-hour period that occurred all year. This metric is typically a crucial component in electricity billing and forecasting. The total annual electrical consumption is how much electricity was used in one year to grow one acre of the crop.

Greenhouse	Maximum Annual Demand (kW/Acre)	Total Annual Electrical Consumption (kWh/Acre)
1	11	46,899
2	13	51,830
3	355	1,199,135
4	520	996,735
5	559	1,977,416

Table IV-2: Electrical Summary Figures

2.3. FIVE-GROWER NETWORK ELECTRICAL ANALYSIS

Combining the five greenhouses into a five-grower network provides valuable information as it samples what 124 acres of greenhouse electrical load can look like. These 124 acres represent unlit and lit greenhouses as well as the major greenhouse vegetables cucumber, peppers, and tomatoes. In Figure IV-4, the monthly demand profile of the five-grower network can be found. In the winter months demand can reach approximately 40 MW. In the summer months, demand can be as low as approximately 1MW, which indicates that demand associated with supplemental lights can result in an ~40x increase.



Figure IV-4: Five-Grower Network Monthly Demand (MW)

Next, in Figure IV-5 the annual average hourly profile is demonstrated. Observing this graph, from 12:00AM to 8:00AM the hourly usage peaks due to lack of sunlight, dropping at 9:00AM to 1PM as the sun begins to rise, increasing from 2:00PM to 5:00PM, then dropping from 6:00PM to 10:00PM. At 11:00PM as the lights begin to start up again for nighttime lighting, the load increases yet again.



FIVE-GROWER NETWORK AVERAGE HOURLY USAGE (MW)

Figure IV-5: Five-Grower Network Average Hourly Usage (MW)

In Figure IV-6, the average hourly usage is demonstrated for each month. Analyzing the lighting months (January to May and September to December) there is a dip in electricity usage at 12:00PM and another dip at 6:00PM showing the periods where lighting is reduced/turned off. In June, July, and August it is shown that no supplemental lights are being used. In April, May, and September it is shown that there is less intensity of supplemental lights being used, as the daylight hours are higher in those months.



Figure IV-6: Five-Grower Network Monthly Average Hourly Usage Profile (MW)

Figure IV-7 displays the total monthly consumption for the five-grower network. There is a clear U-shaped distribution, with the lowest consumption occurring between June – August and the peaks occurring in the colder months as total monthly consumption increases due to the need for supplemental lighting. Overall, the total monthly consumption can be as high as \sim 20,000MWh and as low as \sim 550MWh, representing approximately a 36x difference.



FIVE-GROWER NETWORK TOTAL MONTHLY CONSUMPTION (MWH)

Figure IV-7: Five-Grower Network Total Monthly Consumption (MWh)

Overall, for the five-grower network the maximum annual demand is 0.314 MW/Acre and the total annual electrical consumption is 853 MWh/Acre.

2.4. COGENERATION AND BATTERY SPECIFICATIONS

The DER designs will include cogeneration, as commonly practiced for greenhouses, and a battery system to create an off-grid generation system. From industry manufacturers, specifications for the cogenerators are shown in Table IV-3. The input power in this case is the natural gas used to power the cogenerator and the output power represents both the electrical and thermal outputs.

Modol	Input Power	Output (kW)	
Model	(kW)	Electrical Power	Thermal Power
4 MW	9,463	4,369	4,491
1 MW	2,696	1,061	1,095

Table IV-3: Cogenerator Specifications

These cogenerator specifications can be further explored in Table IV-4 and Table IV-5 where the power input and output details are given when it is operating at 100%, 75%, and 50%. These data points will be used to create a fuel curve to accurately mimic the operation of the cogenerator.

Table IV-4: 1 MW Cogeneration Operation Details

	100%	75%	50%
Power Input (kW)	2,696	2,092	1,496
Thermal Output (kW)	1,095	821	548
Electrical Output (kW)	1,061	795	527

Table IV-5: 4 MW Cogeneration Operation Details

	100%	75%	50%
Power Input (kW)	9,463	7,262	5,061
Thermal Output (kW)	4,491	3,368	2,246
Electrical Output (kW)	4,369	3,266	2,159

Designing these systems as off grid solutions, battery storage is used to help assist with the power supply. In this case, a Lithium-ion battery will be used assuming an initial state of charge at 60% and a minimum state of charge as 20%.

2.5. HOMER PRO SOFTWARE

To design these DER systems, the software HOMER Pro will be used to support and validate overall design decisions. HOMER (Hybrid Optimization of Multiple Energy Resources) Pro is a DER tool that considers electrical and thermal load, location, costs, and DER assets to generate optimized designs [27]. HOMER simulates various systems using the given equipment options and uses user inputted criteria to propose optimal systems. Using these cogeneration and battery specifications, the greenhouse load profiles, and location this will be inputted into the software HOMER Pro to create DER designs will be generated to satisfy the electrical load. After completing these designs for all five greenhouses, these results will be added together and referred to as the total design result. The same DER design will be completed for the five-grower network with the intention to explore the potential reduction in the amount of DER when centralized.

From the design results, the following parameters will be analyzed: fuel consumption, electricity generation, thermal generation, and unmet electrical load. Fuel consumption is the total annual fuel used for cogeneration. Electricity generation and thermal generation are the total annual output of electrical power and thermal heat from the cogenerator. Cogenerator capacities are selected based on available industry sizing, and therefore, are not exactly sized to match greenhouse loads. For this reason, excess electricity is cogeneration power that is not used by the greenhouse. This is typically during a period when the cogenerator can actively meet the greenhouses load and the battery storage is full. Unmet electrical load is the amount of electricity the cogenerator is not running and the battery is at minimum state of charge. This can also be the case when a lit greenhouse is using lighting and the cogenerator is not large enough to fully satisfy the full load.

2.6. CAPEX and OPEX Analysis

To complete a CAPEX analysis for the total and five-grower design, the capital costs of the cogeneration and battery systems will be used. To complete an OPEX analysis, the O&M costs for the cogenerator and battery will be considered, as well as battery replacement, fuel cost, and grid purchased electricity. The project period will begin in 2022 and a 25-year project analysis will be conducted.

Consulting with local industry experts and online forecasts the following values were used for the capital and operational costs of these assets as shown in Table IV-6. Operational costs are assumed to escalate at 5% annually. The battery is assumed to be replaced halfway through the 25-year project.

CATEGORY	COST
Cogeneration Capital (\$/MW)	\$1,750,000
Cogeneration O&M (\$/MW-yr)	\$75,000
Battery Capital (\$/MW) [28]	\$1,380,000
Battery Replacement (\$/MW) [28]	\$992,000
Battery 0&M (\$/kW-yr) [29]	\$14

Table IV-6: Cost Analysis Parameters

The natural gas fuel costs are taken from a Deloitte forecast study using the Ontario Dawn reference point. These costs are forecasted until 2041, following that a 2% increase is assumed [30]. To estimate the carbon tax on the fuel, the carbon dioxide emission rate will be used as 1.926x10⁻³ tonne per m³ of natural gas [31]. Carbon tax is taken as \$50/tonne as of 2022 and assumed to increase \$15 per year until 2030 based on federal projections [32]. As there are no federal projections of carbon tax beyond 2030, a 3% increase is assumed. The carbon tax will be shown in two scenarios: scenario one without any federal reduction and scenario two with the 80% carbon tax reduction currently in place in Ontario due to agricultural use of natural gas [33].

For the unmet electrical load, the electricity pricing purchased from the grid will be assumed as \$0.13/kWh. It is assumed that electrical increases at 3% annually.

Assessing the design with the cogeneration and battery cost figures and the energy figures from the natural gas and electricity, the CAPEX and OPEX analysis will be completed. The CAPEX and OPEX analysis will be shown as a net present value with a 5% interest rate. Lastly, the cost of electricity for the designed will be completed in two scenarios. The first by taking the total project cost over the total electricity generated by the system and the second by taking the total project cost over the total electricity used by the system.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. DESIGN RESULTS

Using the HOMER Pro software, the results for the number of cogenerators, sizing, and details were generated. These results are shown in Table IV-7.

GREENHOUSE	NUMBER OF COGENERATOR(S)	COGENERATION SIZE (MW)	DETAILS
1	1	1.061	1 x 1.061 MW
2	1	1.061	1 x 1.061 MW
3	3	6.491	1 x 4.369 MW 2 x 1.061 MW
4	3	13.107	3 x 4.369 MW
5	3	13.107	3 x 4.369 MW
TOTAL	11	34.827	4 x 1.061 MW 7 x 4.369 MW
FIVE - GROWER	11	31.519	5 X 1.061 MW 6 X 4.369 MW

Table IV-7: Cogeneration Design Results

By combining the five greenhouses into a five-grower network, the cogeneration size was able to decrease one 4MW cogenerator and replace it with 1MW cogenerator. This results in a 3.308 MW reduction. The summary of the cogeneration design results can be found in Figure IV-8.

SUMMARY OF COGENERATION DESIGN RESULTS



Figure IV-8: Summary of Cogeneration Design Results

To supplement the off-grid cogenerator design, the battery results can be shown in Figure IV-9. Comparing the total to the five-grower network, there is 6MW of battery savings when centralizing the greenhouses.



Figure IV-9: Battery Design Results

Based on these cogeneration systems, the operation results can be found in Figure IV-10 where the input fuel is shown as fuel consumption and the outputs such as thermal generation and electrical generation are shown as well. By combining the greenhouses, the system uses 12% less fuel and produces 19% less electricity and 12% less thermal generation.



COGENERATION OPERATION RESULTS

Figure IV-10: Cogeneration Operation Results

In Figure IV-11, the electricity operation results are displayed showcasing the unmet electrical load, electrical load served, and excess electricity. While the total only falls short 0.32% of the electrical load, the five-grower network falls 2.4% short. However, the five-grower network produces $\sim 1/5$ of the excess electricity the total design produces. Depending on the project location and electrical grid, an abundance of excess electricity can be seen as an issue or benefit for some systems.



ELECTRICITY OPERATION RESULTS

Figure IV-11: Electricity Operation Results

Overall, individual systems and a network system have different operation results that can be seen as beneficial or challenging depending on the operator.

3.2. CAPEX AND OPEX RESULTS

Applying the DER costs as well as the projected electricity and natural gas costs, the CAPEX and OPEX of these designs were completed. In Figure IV-12, the total project costs are shown with no agricultural rebate on the carbon tax. In Figure IV-15, the total project costs are shown with the agricultural rebate on the carbon tax. The agricultural rebate with the natural gas projections can reduce the fuel costs by 49%, saving these greenhouses a total of \$92.8 million dollars. In these designs, cogeneration fuel is the costliest component, followed by cogeneration 0&M, and cogeneration capital.





Figure IV-12: Total Project Costs

The comparison of the five individual operations versus the five-grower network can be found in Figure IV-13. By combining the greenhouses there was a 20% reduction in capital costs, 12% reduction in operational and fuel costs. However, electricity grid purchasing was 7.7x more in the five-grower network scenario. Overall, the five-grower network has a total



savings of \$44.5 million without the agricultural rebate and \$33.6 million with the agricultural rebate.

Figure IV-13: Total vs. Five Grower Network

To summarize, the cost of electricity for these cogeneration and battery designs can be found in Table IV-8 and Table IV-9. In Table IV-8, all the electricity generated is assumed to be used. In Table IV-9, the excess electricity is not included and only the electricity directly used to meet the load is considered. By calculating this way, the input fuel costs for the excess electricity is considered. This is especially important to note in the unlit greenhouses Greenhouse #1 and #2 as they have smaller electricity is not used elsewhere, the cost of electricity can be 6.5x more for smaller electrical load greenhouses.

Greenhouse	Cost of Electricity (\$/kWh)	Cost of Electricity w/ Agricultural Rebate (\$/kWh)
#1	\$0.12	\$0.09
#2	\$0.10	\$0.07
#3	\$0.10	\$0.07
#4	\$0.09	\$0.07
#5	\$0.11	\$0.08
Total	\$0.10	\$0.08
Five-Grower Network	\$0.11	\$0.07

Table IV-8: Cost of Electricity (Total Generated Electricity)

Table IV-9: Cost of Electricity (Total Electrical Load Served)

Greenhouse	Cost of Electricity (\$/kWh)	Cost of Electricity w/ Agricultural Rebate (\$/kWh)
#1	\$0.47	\$0.35
#2	\$0.66	\$0.46
#3	\$0.11	\$0.08
#4	\$0.13	\$0.09
#5	\$0.12	\$0.09
Total	\$0.13	\$0.09
Five-Grower Network	\$0.12	\$0.08

4. CONCLUSION

Distributed Energy Resources are a feasible option to enable the growth and independence of the greenhouse sector in Ontario when local electricity grid and utilities are unable to match the demand. The addition of DERs allows greenhouses to pursue expansion and innovative technology adoption without concerns of electricity approval and delay. The analysis of a five-grower network in Ontario provides an electrical data load example of over one hundred acres of greenhouses with various vegetable crops and lighting habits. Through the electrical data analysis of the five greenhouses, the following conclusions can be made:

- The electrical demands in the summer months can be up to \sim 40x less than the winter months
- Annually, total monthly consumption can vary by \sim 36x throughout the year
- Overall, based on the five greenhouses, there is a maximum annual demand of 0.314 MW/acre and a total annual electrical consumption of 853 MWh/acre

By assessing a cogeneration and battery system on these greenhouses, the following conclusions on a five-grower network can be made:

- By creating a network, 3.308 MW of cogeneration and 6MW of battery can be reduced
- A five-grower network uses 12% less fuel and produces 19% less electricity and 12% less thermal generation in comparison to a decentralized design
- There is a load electrical shortage of 0.32% for the total design and a 2.4% for the five-grower design. In comparison to the total design, the five-grower network produces $\sim 1/5$ of the excess electricity.
- The five-grower network has a 20% reduction in capital costs, 12% reduction in operational and fuel costs, and 7.7x increase in electricity grid purchasing.
- Comparing the designs with and without the agricultural rebate, the rebate can reduce the fuel costs by 49% creating savings up to \$92.8 million dollars.
- The five-grower network has a total savings of up to \$44.5 million dollars
- When excess electricity is not used elsewhere, the cost of electricity can be 6.5x more for smaller electrical load greenhouses.

Although this study is based in Ontario, the key design results can be used internationally. This design analysis can be used for greenhouses to explore self-generation options when met with issues like grid shortages.

REFERENCES

- [1] Statistical Overview of the Canadian Greenhouse Vegetable Industry, 2019 agriculture.canada.ca 2020. https://agriculture.canada.ca/en/canadas-agriculturesectors/horticulture/horticulture-sector-reports/statistical-overview-canadiangreenhouse-vegetable-industry-2019 (accessed February 6, 2022).
- [2] LaPlante G, Andrekovic S, Young RG, Kelly JM, Bennett N, Currie EJ, et al. Canadian Greenhouse Operations and Their Potential to Enhance Domestic Food Security. Agronomy 2021;11:1229. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11061229.
- [3] Zhou D, Meinke H, Wilson M, Marcelis LFM, Heuvelink E. Towards delivering on the sustainable development goals in greenhouse production systems. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 2021;169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.105379.
- [4] Taki M, Yildizhan H. Evaluation the sustainable energy applications for fruit and vegetable productions processes; case study: Greenhouse cucumber production. Journal of Cleaner Production 2018;199:164–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.07.136.
- [5] Frankowska A, Jeswani HK, Azapagic A. Environmental sustainability issues in the food-energy-water nexus in the UK vegetables sector: Energy and water consumption. Energy Procedia, vol. 161, Elsevier Ltd; 2019, p. 150–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2019.02.074.
- [6] Ahamed MS, Guo H, Taylor L, Tanino K. Heating demand and economic feasibility analysis for year-round vegetable production in Canadian Prairies greenhouses. Information Processing in Agriculture 2019;6:81–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INPA.2018.08.005.
- [7] Linares G, Hernani-Limarino W. The Use of Supplemental Lighting for Vegetable Crop Production: Light Intensity, Crop Response, Nutrition, Crop Management, Cultural Practices. Canadian Greenhouse Conference 2003.
- [8] Lal R. Home gardening and urban agriculture for advancing food and nutritional security in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Food Secur 2020;12:871–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12571-020-01058-3.
- [9] Riefler P. Local versus global food consumption: the role of brand authenticity 2019. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCM-02-2019-3086.
- [10] Burnett P, Kuethe T, Price C. Consumer Preference for Locally Grown Produce: An Analysis of Willingness-to-Pay and Geographic Scale. Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development 2011:269–78. https://doi.org/10.5304/jafscd.2011.021.013.

- [11] Stanton J, Wirth FF, Dao Y. An Analysis of Consumers' Preferences between Locally Grown/Processed Food and Organic Food. Curr Inves Agri Curr Res 2018;4. https://doi.org/10.32474/CIACR.2018.04.000180.
- [12] Conner DS, Montri AD, Montri DN, Hamm MW. Consumer demand for local produce at extended season farmers' markets: Guiding farmer marketing strategies. Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems 2009;24:251–9. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1742170509990044.
- [13] Brown C. Consumers' preferences for locally produced food: A study in southeast Missouri. 2003.
- [14] Shen Y, Wei R, Xu L. Energy consumption prediction of a greenhouse and optimization of daily average temperature. Energies (Basel) 2018;11. https://doi.org/10.3390/en11010065.
- [15] Gorjian S, Ebadi H, Najafi G, Singh Chandel S, Yildizhan H. Recent advances in net-zero energy greenhouses and adapted thermal energy storage systems. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments 2021;43:100940. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SETA.2020.100940.
- [16] Tataraki KG, Kavvadias KC, Maroulis ZB. Combined cooling heating and power systems in greenhouses. Grassroots and retrofit design. Energy 2019;189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2019.116283.
- [17] Power Perspectives Renewing Ontario's Electricity Markets Innovation, Emerging Technologies & Reliability Resilience & Ontario's Power System The Promise of Big Data in the Electricity Sector. 2019.
- [18] Region's power supply needs to quadruple to meet expected demand from greenhouse industry. CBC News 2021. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/windsor/windsor-power-supply-expandinggreenhouses-1.5971762 (accessed April 27, 2022).
- [19] Yano A, Cossu M. Energy sustainable greenhouse crop cultivation using photovoltaic technologies. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 2019;109:116–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.04.026.
- [20] Schettini E, Puglisi G, Convertino F, Cancellara FA, Vox G. Greenhouse localized heating powered by a polygeneration system. Journal of Agricultural Engineering 2021;52. https://doi.org/10.4081/JAE.2021.1205.
- [21] Mehedi TH, Gemechu E, Davis M, Kumar A. A framework to identify marginal electricity production technologies for consequential life cycle assessment: A case study of the electricity sector. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments 2021;47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seta.2021.101450.

- [22] Erixno O, Rahim NA, Ramadhani F, Adzman NN. Energy management of renewable energy-based combined heat and power systems: A review. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments 2022;51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seta.2021.101944.
- [23] Tataraki K, Giannini E, Kavvadias K, Maroulis Z. Cogeneration Economics for Greenhouses in Europe. Energies 2020, Vol 13, Page 3373 2020;13:3373. https://doi.org/10.3390/EN13133373.
- [24] García JL, de La Plaza S, Navas LM, Benavente RM, Luna L. Evaluation of the Feasibility of Alternative Energy Sources for Greenhouse Heating. Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research 1998;69:107–14. https://doi.org/10.1006/JAER.1997.0228.
- [25] van der Veen RAC, Kasmire J. Combined heat and power in Dutch greenhouses: A case study of technology diffusion. Energy Policy 2015;87:8–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2015.08.040.
- [26] Chau J, Sowlati T, Sokhansanj S, Preto F, Melin S, Bi X. Techno-economic analysis of wood biomass boilers for the greenhouse industry. Applied Energy 2009;86:364–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2008.05.010.
- [27] Welcome to HOMER n.d. https://www.homerenergy.com/products/pro/docs/latest/index.html (accessed April 25, 2022).
- [28] Cole W, Frazier AW, Augustine C. Cost Projections for Utility-Scale Battery Storage: 2021 Update 2021.
- [29] Mongird K, Viswanathan V, Alam J, Vartanian C, Sprenkle V, Baxter R. 2020 Grid Energy Storage Technology Cost and Performance Assessment 2020.
- [30] Oil and gas price forecast Strategic transitioning: The future of oil and gas in a decarbonized world 2022.
- [31] Victoria. 2020 B.C. BEST PRACTICES METHODOLOGY FOR QUANTIFYING GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS FOR PUBLIC SECTOR ORGANIZATIONS, LOCAL GOVERNMENTS AND COMMUNITY EMISSIONS Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy 2021.
- [32] Carbon Pricing Expands in Canada, Making Slower Progress in the United States | ACEEE n.d. https://www.aceee.org/blog-post/2021/03/carbon-pricing-expandscanada-making-slower-progress-united-states (accessed May 16, 2022).
- [33] Navigating Complex Carbon Prices What Greenhouse Growers Need to Know n.d. https://360energy.net/carbon-taxes-add-complexity-for-greenhouses-what-youneed-to-know/ (accessed May 14, 2022).

CHAPTER V CONCLUSION

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Significant innovations are being made in the greenhouse sector to meet the growing food demand, resulting in increased electricity consumption. However, many studies surrounding innovative supplemental lighting rarely consider the overall impact the technology has to the electrical grid. The increase of power usage creates concerns for local grids that lack the infrastructure to support this rapid uptake. Therefore, this work provides notable analysis by representing priorities of both the electricity and greenhouse sector in energy models based on commercial greenhouse data in Ontario. These energy concerns can be addressed through supplemental lighting technology management and the use of distributed energy resources (DERs). This work provides significant research contribution by presenting three different studies that analyze various supplemental lighting technologies and DER systems based on real systems. These studies provide a range of scenarios at a finer geographic scope to anticipate the potential growth of electrical loads. Together, these designs and analysis provide projected impacts, modelling tools, and various mitigation strategies with supplemental lighting and DERs in the vegetable greenhouse sector.

Chapter II studies the various supplemental lighting combinations available to the Ontario pepper greenhouse sector that currently remains largely unlit. This chapter examined the crop with no lighting, HPS, and LED lighting with both a crop focused and electrical impact headset. It was determined that any addition of lighting results in a notable increase of electricity demand and consumption. However, using LED lighting provides significant operational electricity savings to the greenhouse but come at a greater capital cost. The electrical comparison of various lighting recipes was explored in a unique model that previous studies had yet to explore. Taking this further, this study projected the impact a commonly unlit sector could have on the electricity grid if supplemental lighting became was adopted. The developed models display numerous lighting recipes with electricity modelling, capital and operational cost analysis, and the overall impact to the Ontario electricity grid.

In Chapter III, the adaptation of supplemental lighting and the expansion of harvesting acres allows for increased produce yield but also increases electrical power demand. This study models the electricity demand and consumption dependent on lighting intensity, lighting types, and sector expansion. The results show that for every 1% decrease or increase in lighting intensity, there is a significant corresponding decrease or increase impact to the electricity demand and yearly consumption. Furthering this, the results showed that if most of the current sector adapted lighting the electricity demand and consumption on the grid can increase up to fourfold. Additionally, if the sector adapted lighting and increased the harvesting area by 50% the demand and consumption can inflate up to fivefold. Overall, a mass shift to lighting could have unforseen impacts on the electricity grid. Outcomes confirm that strategic lighting intensity and technology choices can be used for grid optimization and sector success to avoid unavailable grid supply.

DER electricity generation allows for greenhouses to operate without the constraints of local electricity shortages. Chapter IV illustrates the demand and electrical consumption of five vegetable greenhouse, individually and as a five-grower network. This study examined the commercial facilities based on electrical demand and consumption for unlit and lit acres, as well as commonly used lighting hours and months for lit greenhouses. This concluded that each greenhouse has unique consumption based on greenhouse structure, crop type, and lighting habits. These five greenhouses were then combined electrically to show the unique loads of a newfound network of vegetable greenhouse facilities, a combination not yet explored in research. DER designs including cogeneration and battery were developed for both the greenhouses separately and five-grower network. The results show that by creating a network, there can be significant reduction in DER capacity, capital costs, and fuel and operational costs. This study confirmed that creating greenhouse networks can allow for greenhouses to self-generate at a reasonable cost using DERs.

FUTURE RECOMMENDATIONS

The electrical data modelling presented in these studies and their application with Ontario greenhouse data provide a sample of the complexity of supplemental lighting and DERs on the sector and provide meaningful cohesive insights for both the greenhouse and electricity industry. The diverse availability of lighting technologies and application methodologies can massively impact the power consumption of the greenhouse and ultimately the demand for DERs or grid electricity. The model results focus on a general adaptation of both supplemental lighting and DERs that can be used by both agriculture and energy policy makers, electricity system operators, and utilities to guide decisions.

The results from Chapter II showcased detailed load trends and electricity savings from using LEDs over HPS lighting systems. However, it did not explore the energy increase in systems like boilers to make up for the heat that is typically emitted from HPS lights to warm the greenhouse. There is value in future research looking at the energy nexus between more efficient lighting systems and demand changes in heating systems. In addition to this, modelling the carbon emissions from the greenhouse using less electricity from the grid and increasing its fuel consumption when switching from HPS and LED could provide the sector with critical information. An analysis like this could be of interest globally and could vary depending on the generation technology used by the electricity sector. This would provide full picture insight on if HPS to LED is truly beneficial to the sector or solely of benefit to reducing demand on the electricity grid.

Chapter III applied an average lighting intensity, fixture, and methodology to estimate the demand and consumption of the Ontario vegetable greenhouse industry on the grid. While this research provided valuable insight and projections of the sector turning to lighting, this analysis can be refined to improve the accuracy of the results. First, the lighting model could be improved by specializing the lighting technique by the crop type. This could be achieved by collecting industry data such as lighting intensities and targets used in commercial

greenhouses in Ontario. This would not only provide more accurate modelling on the overall demand for grid forecasting but would showcase the defining factors on the growers end that lead to high power consumption. Furthermore, investigating common lighting hours would be beneficial in modelling an hourly demand profile of the sector and could provide the information needed to plan greenhouse demand shifting. The results from this could also lead to further investment in research targeting continuous lighting and reduced lighting days for demand reduction.

The DER design shown in Chapter IV modelled the load analysis and financial case study of a five-grower network in Southwestern Ontario. Although this research investigated a unique proposition of five greenhouses in the same area building a power network and sharing a DER system, this proposition requires further investigation before implementation. To start, the installation of such a system requires grid availability and coordination. Future studies could analyze grid availability, connectivity requirements, and the controls required to utilize a system of this nature. Additionally, to confirm the feasibility, the mapping of ownership, stakeholder, and legal relationships in a DER partnership should be explored. Further limitations of this study include the financial limitations which depend on location specific electrical loads and costs. Recommendations include up to date technology pricing, detailed projections on electricity and natural gas, and costs associated with the interconnectivity of the assets to the grid. Lastly, further exploration of DERs such as photovoltaic (PV), small modular reactors (SMRs), wind, and biogas cogeneration should be considered for the greenhouse industry.

The scenarios presented in these studies provided a unique and newfound modelling technique on the electricity portion of the greenhouse industry. However, there are opportunities to further this research to gain additional insight. Overall, the electricity and DER modelling tools introduced in this thesis must be continually updated and further explored to remain relevant to the technology and methodology utilized in modern day.

ENGINEERING CONTRIBUTIONS

The engineering contributions from the studies and models presented in this thesis can be summarized by the following points:

- 1. A detailed current and projected hourly and monthly load curve for characteristic greenhouse operations (Chapter II)
- 2. A presentation of a diverse set of lighting scenarios highlighting electricity demand and consumption variation in the greenhouse industry (Chapter II)
- 3. An improved financial comparison model for unlit and lit acres of a pepper greenhouse in Ontario (Chapter II)
- 4. A baseline comparison of the impact of various greenhouse lighting intensities and lighting technology combinations on the Ontario electricity grid (Chapter III)

- 5. A projection of greenhouse vegetable demand and consumption on the electrical grid based on supplemental lighting adaptation and sector expansion (Chapter III)
- 6. A grower network analysis of representative varying load profiles of unlit and lit vegetable greenhouses in Southwestern Ontario (Chapter IV)
- 7. A model design of new onsite DER assets for characteristic greenhouse operations and five-grower network (Chapter IV)
- 8. The development of detailed 25-year CAPEX and OPEX financial model of a cogeneration and battery system considering project and location-specific factors such as: capital expenses, electricity and natural gas cost projections, agriculture rebates, technology costs, grid savings (Chapter IV)
- 9. A report of baseline electricity costs per kWh for centralized and decentralized energy supply architecture (Chapter IV)

The previous studies addressing supplemental lighting focus solely on the greenhouse sector at a research level, with commercial data not being readily available. The models developed in this thesis provide load analysis using scenario impacts from the sectors innovation and expansion projections backed by industry data that can be used for electricity planning. Furthermore, the development of a five-grower network DER cogeneration system provides tangible designs and opportunity ideas that can be used in the sector today. In conjunction, the models provide a toolset for planning the future impact of the greenhouse sector on the energy industry.

VITA AUCTORIS

NAME:	Lysandra Naom
PLACE OF BIRTH:	Windsor, ON
YEAR OF BIRTH:	1998
EDUCATION:	Holy Names High School, Windsor, ON, 2016
	University of Windsor, BASc., Electrical Engineering Co-operative Education Honours with Minor in Mathematics, Windsor, ON, 2020